Scots pine resin and BVOC emissions in relation to tree water dynamics

Kaisa Rissanen

Insitute for Atmospheric and Earth System Research / Forest Sciences,

Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry

University of Helsinki

Academic dissertation

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in lecture hall B5 of Forest Sciences building, Latokartanonkaari 7, Viikki Campus, Helsinki, on December 12, 2019, at 10 o'clock.

Helsinki 2019

Title of dissertation: Scots pine resin and BVOC emissions in relation to tree water dynamics

Author: Kaisa Rissanen

Dissertationes Forestales 283

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.283 Use licence <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis Supervisors: Professor Jaana Bäck Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

Professor Teemu Hölttä Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

Pre-examiners: Professor Ülo Niinemets Institute of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Estonian University of Life Sciences, Tartu, Estonia

Associate Professor Ari Laurén School of Forest Sciences, Faculty of Science and Forestry, University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, Finland

Opponent: Senior Researcher Michael Staudt French National Centre for Scientific Research (CRNS), Montpellier, France

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-656-4 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-657-1 (paperback)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, FI-00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Rissanen, K.** (2019). Scots pine resin and BVOC emissions in relation to tree water dynamics. Dissertationes Forestales 283. 45 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.283

Trees have different mechanisms to avoid and mitigate biotic and abiotic stresses, among which resin is essential for conifer trees. Conifer resin is also a large pool of monoterpenes that – similarly to other volatile organic compounds (VOCs) produced by plants, e.g. methanol, acetone and acetaldehyde – have important roles in tree signalling and atmospheric chemistry once emitted to ambient air. The VOC emissions from different tree parts and resin dynamics depend on environmental variables, with intrinsic effects on conifer defence.

This thesis aims at clarifying the environmental and physiological drivers of resin dynamics and VOC emissions from shoots and stem of mature boreal Scots pines (*Pinus sylvestris*) in field conditions, with special attention to the effect of tree water relations. Resin pressure dynamics were studied using pressure transducers, and VOC emissions using online mass spectrometer and dynamic chamber system. Composition of resin and monoterpene emission was analysed based on gas-chromatograph measurements.

At a short term, resin pressures and VOC emissions both from shoots and stem of Scots pine were explained by temperature. Over a longer period, resin pressures and stem monoterpene emissions decreased with decreasing soil water availability and tree water potential. In addition, the emission dynamics of water-soluble acetaldehyde, methanol and acetone, from shoots and stem were connected to transpiration rate and soil water content, indicating an important effect of their transport in xylem sap.

These results show that although often overlooked, tree stems can be an important source of VOCs, and that even relatively small changes in water availability can alter the VOC and resin dynamics despite their strong short-term temperature control. This information could help to understand the potential susceptibility of conifer trees to biotic stresses in different environmental conditions and to improve VOC emission modelling by accounting for the stem emission dynamics.

Keywords: resin, monoterpene, methanol, acetaldehyde, acetone, Scots pine

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It takes a village to raise a child they say. They could also say that it takes a research group to raise a doctor. What you will read in the following relies heavily on the work, help, time, good will and effort of my co-workers, supervisors and family. And that is, I suppose, how it should be.

I first wish to express my gratitude to my supervisors Teemu Hölttä and Jaana Bäck who offered me a very intriguing bait of resin measurements already after the second year of my forest science studies and lured me into the fascinating world of ecophysiology. Thank you for being excited about my results, letting me try everything and guiding me through the winding path of doctoral studies.

I am grateful for Juho Aalto and Heidi Hellén who – although I did not remember that until recently – were members of my thesis committee, and whose help and expertise I have enjoyed while planning and conducting different measurements both in the field and laboratory. I am grateful to Juho and Anni Vanhatalo also for teaching me all I know and also what I do not know about PTR-MS and letting me use the VOC data that is a product of their effort and frozen fingers. I also want to thank all the co-authors of the papers that make this thesis for their important contribution, comments and especially the new insights.

I also wish to thank and hug all the co-workers in Viikki for sharing their help and knowledge always when needed, and sharing the everyday struggles and wins, wine seminars and mushroom hunting. Special thanks to room 321 where answers to questions have always been found, frustrations safely released, and weather and a variety of other random topics covered. So, thanks Laura, Mari, Anni, Anna, Lauri, Kourosh and Pille, and Teemu, although you sit two floors above.

The technical staff of Hyytiälä, Kumpula and Viikki have enabled my expeditions of going and measuring something new by building the instruments and magickly finding the spare parts that I have needed. I have also always enjoyed the atmosphere and coffee time discussions in Hyytiälä, and how even at a heavily instrumented site, people always come first.

Thank you for Associate Professor Ari Laurén and Professor Ülo Niinemets for pre-examining this thesis and taking the time to improve it with their valuable comments, and of course for Senior Researcher Michael Staudt for accepting to be my opponent.

My work was supported by the University of Helsinki Research Foundation, and I want to thank you for trusting me with this funding. The support of Center of Excellence in Atmospheric Sciences has enabled the use and maintenance of the variety of instruments that I have needed, and the support of Finnish Society of Forest Science has enabled the expeditions overseas.

In the end, I want to thank my family for evoking my interest in nature and all things, and for being my bed rock, place to return to and a check point for reality outside the academia. And of course, Antti for growing older with me but never growing up.

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The thesis includes the following publications, later referred to with their roman numerals.

- I. Rissanen, K., Hölttä, T., Vanhatalo, A., Aalto, J., Nikinmaa, E., Rita, H. & Bäck, J. (2016). Diurnal patterns in Scots pine stem oleoresin pressure in a boreal forest. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 39: 527–538. doi: 10.1111/pce.12637
- II. Rissanen, K., Hölttä, T., Barreira, L.F.M., Hyytinen, N., Kurtén, T. & Bäck, J. (2019). Temporal and spatial variation in Scots pine resin pressure and composition. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change* 2: 23. doi: 10.3389/ffgc.2019.00023
- III. Rissanen, K., Vanhatalo, A., Salmon, Y., Bäck, J. & Hölttä, T. (2019). Stem emissions of monoterpenes, acetaldehyde and methanol from Scots pine affected by tree water relations and cambial growth. Manuscript.
- Rissanen, K., Hölttä, T. & Bäck, J. (2018). Transpiration directly regulated the emissions of water-soluble short-chained OVOCs. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 41: 2288–2298. doi: 10.1111/pce.13318

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 Resin	7
1.2 Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)	11
2 MOTIVATION AND OBJECTIVES	16
3 METHODS	17
3.1 Study site	17
3.2 Resin measurements	17
3.3 Resin dynamics modelling	
3.4 VOC emission measurements	
3.5 Tree water status and CO ₂ efflux measurements	22
3.6 Path analysis as a tool to separate variable interactions	23
4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	24
4.1 Resin pressure dynamics	24
4.2 Resin effects on monoterpene emissions	27
4.3 Water transport effects on OVOC emissions	
5 CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	

1 INTRODUCTION

Trees stand still, living tens, hundreds, even thousands of years never moving from where they landed as seeds. Where they stand, they have to find all they need to sustain themselves, and where they stand, they have to resist all weathers and invasions from other organisms. Nevertheless, trees are among the most long-living individual creatures on our planet.

To survive and outlive the challenges in their habitat, trees have developed a multitude of fine mechanisms and processes to acquire water and nutrients, to transport substrates where they are needed, and to defend themselves against herbivores and pathogens. The functioning and fine-tuning of these processes have been – and still are – a great puzzle for researchers.

One successful survival mechanism has developed in conifer trees that are one of the most abundant groups of plants. To deter herbivores and pathogens, conifers produce resin. Resin is a viscous liquid that flows to cover wounds on stem surface, and it is toxic for many small organisms. It is also a large pool of monoterpenes, volatile molecules that create the distinct odour of resin and the odour of forest. While we detect these scents as a pleasant addition to the scape of scents, many organisms, plants and insects use them to receive information from their surroundings. They alert of possible hosts, prey or stress.

Alongside monoterpenes, trees produce a whole spectrum of different volatile compounds, the functions of which are not thoroughly understood at the tree level or in the ecosystem. It is known, however, that these compounds have an important role in the chemistry of atmosphere, affecting for example the quality of air and the formation of clouds. Instead of just surviving in their environment, trees actively affect the processes surrounding them.

Despite their fine mechanisms, despite resin, conifers are facing new challenges, including rapid shifts in their environment caused by land-use changes and global warming with its side effects. Thus, understanding the mechanisms of tree survival and their interactions with other organisms and atmosphere is increasingly important.

1.1 Resin

Resin, or oleoresin, is the sticky, gold-coloured liquid from conifer trees that embodies the odour of forest and freshly sawn wood. It has long been a valued raw material: fresh resin has been used to heal wounds and hardened resin chewed to clean teeth, but most importantly, resin has made its mark on history on the sides of sailing ships – pitch and tar that were used to coat the ships are products of slow burning of wood, high in resinous compounds. Nowadays, pine resin is used in the production of chemicals for different industrial and household uses, e.g. in adhesives, coatings, fragrances and flavours (Coppen and Hone 1995; Langenheim 2003). However, more than to human, resin is important for the trees. In conifer trees, resin is an essential part of the first-line of defence against herbivores and pathogens.

1.1.1 Resin composition and storage structures

Resin is found in most conifer species. For example, almost all genera of Pinaceae family, which is the largest conifer family, can produce resin. The composition of resin has been studied since 1930's and increasingly since 1960's (e.g. Kurth & Sherrard 1931; Smith 1964a b c), with varying intensities until present. During this time, the methods for resin component extraction and identification developed considerably, allowing increasingly reliable and comprehensive results on the resin composition.

Resin contains approximately 75% of resin acids that are non-volatile diterpene acids and 25% of volatile monoterpenes, as well as small amounts of volatile sesquiterpenes (Croteau and

Johnson 1985). Sometimes other wood extractives, such as phenolic compounds, are also classified as resins but in the following, resin includes only the terpene compounds. The mixture of the two types of terpenes enables resin functions: the volatile terpenes act as solvents that mobilise the non-volatile terpenes, whereas the non-volatile terpenes increase resin viscosity and cause its crystallisation. In *Pinus* species, the most common diterpenes are abietane- and pimarane-type diterpenic acids, such as abietic and pimaric acids (Langenheim 2003), and the most common monoterpenes are α -pinene, β -pinene, Δ^3 -carene, sabinene, myrcene, limonene and β -phellandrene (Smith 2000) (Figure 1).

However, the composition of resin, and its monoterpene concentrations in particular, vary considerably between species, populations and even individuals of the same species (Smith 1964a; Zavarin and Cobb 1970; Marpeau et al. 1989; Latta et al. 2000, 2003; Fäldt et al. 2001; Thoss et al. 2007; Kännaste et al. 2013), and the composition seems to be under genetic control (Hanover 1966, 1992). Within one tree, resin composition may also vary between different tissues, especially when comparing needles, phloem and sapwood (Latta et al. 2000). However, within sapwood, resin composition is quite uniform (Smith 1964c). Despite the variation within and between trees, the temporal variation of resin composition should be limited in the absence of stresses: because resin production is small in comparison to the size of resin pool, the turnover is long, even in order of several years (Wilson et al. 1963; Gershenzon et al. 1993).

The structures for resin storage differ between species: resin can be stored in isolated resin cells scattered in stem (e.g. in *Thuja*), in resin blisters or glands that are round multicellular structures in sapwood and bark (e.g. in *Abies* and *Sequoia*), or within resin ducts that are long, intercellular cavities in sapwood, bark, roots, needles and buds (e.g. in *Pinus*, *Picea* and *Larix*). The resin duct system in pines (*Pinus*) is considered highly developed, forming a dense network of partially interconnected longitudinal and radial canals within the stem (Figure 2) (Werker and Fahn 1969; Bosshard and Hug 1980; Phillips and Croteau 1999; Zhang et al. 2008). The pine and spruce (*Picea*) resin ducts are enveloped by one or several layers of thin-walled epithelial cells that produce the resin acids and monoterpenes in their plastids, and the sesquiterpenes in their endoplasmic reticulum (Dell and McComb 1979; Langenheim 2003; Zulak and Bohlmann 2010). The epithelial cells are surrounded by layers of thick-walled sheath cells (Wu and Hu 1997). In pines, the epithelial cells can stay biologically active for several years, whereas the sheath cells can be dead (Wu and Hu 1997).





 α -pinene β -pinene Δ^3 -carene

Figure 1. Crystallising resin and the most common components of resin in *Pinus* species (photo by Kaisa Rissanen).



Figure 2. a) Axial (vertical) resin duct and b) smaller horizontal resin duct in ray of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) (photo: Study I, Rissanen et al. 2016).

1.1.2 Resin in conifer defence

Resin has been an important subject of research because of its commercial value but even more because of its central role in the defence of conifer trees. For example, during and after the outbreaks of southern pine beetle (*Dendroctonus frontalis*) in the southern USA in 1970's, researchers concentrated on identifying the traits that made the local pine species and individual trees either susceptible or resistant to the bark beetle infestations. These traits included among others, resin composition and flow, and the density of resin ducts.

Resin protects the tree against pathogens and pest insects, for example, herbivorous larvae and bark beetles, both mechanically and chemically. As the mechanical defence, resin pitches out intruders and seals wounds. In pines, resin in resin ducts is stored under a pressure that can exceed 10 bar (Bourdeau and Schopmeyer 1958; Vité 1961; Vité and Wood 1961), which enables a rapid release of resin after the duct has been injured. The flow of resin released from the wound can overwhelm and drown an invasive insect. After the flush of resin to the wounded site, the resin monoterpenes evaporate, and the resin acids crystallise to form a seal that protects the wound from further intruders (Figure 3). The chemical defence comprises resin compounds that are either harmful for herbivores or pest insects, such as monoterpenes limonene, Δ^3 -carene and α and β -pinene (Smith 1965, 1966; Phillips and Croteau 1999; Seybold et al. 2006; Reid et al. 2017), anti-fungal, such as resin acids abietic acid and isopimaric acid (Kopper et al. 2005), or anti-bacterial, such as monoterpenes thymol, carvacol, p-cymene and y-terpinene (Cristani et al. 2007). These compounds can affect the herbivore preferences, larvae development (Langenheim 1994), and fungal germination or growth (Kopper et al. 2005), but they can also be used as signals by the host-seeking insects (Phillips and Croteau 1999) or their predators and parasites (Langenheim 1994). In addition, monoterpenes can transmit signals within plant and between plant individuals (Baldwin et al. 2006): high concentrations of stress-related monoterpenes in air can provoke the production of defensive compounds and prepare other plant parts or even other plants against potential herbivory (Baldwin et al. 2006).

However, even from the insect perspective, resin is not only harmful. Certain insects can tolerate the high concentrations of resin acids and monoterpenes and find protection within resinous tissues (Langenheim 1994). European sawfly larvae (*Neodiprion certifer*) can even sequester resin acids for their own defence and eject them on predators (Eisner et al. 1974). In addition, wood ants carry resin into their nest in order to protect it against pathogens (Chapuisat et al. 2007; Castella et al. 2008).

1.1.3 Resin dynamics

While studying the susceptibility and resistance of certain pines to a mass-attack of bark beetles, researchers found that not only the resin composition and certain toxic compounds, but also the production, flow and pressure of resin play a central role in the resistance. Although none of these variables explained the tree resistance alone (Lorio 1994), it was observed that the trees that were more resistant to bark beetles had, among other things, large and persistent resin flow (Smith 1966; Hodges et al. 1979; Strom et al. 2002) and high resin pressure (Vité and Wood 1961; Wood 1962).

Resin pressure is not a static feature of the tree, but it changes depending on water availability and tree water relations at different time scales. At a seasonal scale, decreasing availability of water causes a decreasing trend in the resin pressure, partly explaining the susceptibility of trees to bark beetles in dry conditions (Vité 1961; Barret and Bengtson 1964; Lorio and Hodges 1968a). At a daily scale, high resin pressures have been invariably measured at night when the water potential in stem is high and low resin pressures in day time when the water potential is low (Schopmeyer et al. 1954; Bourdeau and Schopmeyer 1958; Vité 1961; Hodges and Lorio 1968, 1971; Lorio and Hodges 1968b; Helseth and Brown 1970; Neher 1993). These dynamics have been explained by the changing xylem water tensions and turgor pressures within the stem. On the one hand, in day time, high transpiration decreases the water potential in xylem, which shrinks the xylem tracheids and creates more space for the intercellular resin ducts, decreasing the resin pressure (Helseth and Brown 1970; Neher 1993). On the other hand, low water potential also draws water from the epithelial cells lining the resin duct, decreasing their turgor pressure and thus the pressure they pose on the resin (Vité 1961).

The large body of knowledge on the pine resin dynamics has been collected in the droughtprone pine forests in southern USA, but similar understanding is lacking in the cool and moist boreal environment. In the boreal forests, the role of resin-base defence is crucial, since bark beetles pose a major threat to the conifer trees particularly after storms and during and after dry years (see Bakke, 1983). Storms and windfalls, as well as droughts or inundations may become more frequent because of climate change, favouring bark beetle epidemics. In addition, warmer and longer growing seasons in the north can allow bark beetles to produce two broods in one growing seasons, which also increases the risk of epidemics (Schlyter et al. 2006). Thus, to predict and prevent forest dieback it is important to understand the factors affecting tree defence in the boreal environment, as well.



Figure 3. Resin leaked from Aleppo pine (*Pinus halepensis*) stem where bark beetles have entered the stem (photo by Kaisa Rissanen).

1.2 Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)

The volatile constituents of resin, monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes belong to a group of compounds called volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and more specifically, biogenic volatile organic compounds (BVOCs). They are a variety of hydrocarbon molecules that plants produce and emit as a part of their secondary metabolism, meaning that these compounds are not directly necessary for normal growth and reproduction. However, they serve many purposes, such as the resistance against heat and high irradiation as well as the signalling and defence against biotic stresses, but they can also leak out as side products of other metabolic processes in plants. BVOCs have been of growing interest both because of new findings on the signalling within and between plants or between plant and insects, and because of their important role in the atmospheric chemistry.

Once emitted to ambient air, BVOC react with the atmospheric oxidants: hydroxyl radical (OH), ozone (O₃) and nitrate radical (NO₃) (Atkinson and Arey 2003). These reactions have different consequences in the atmospheric chemistry. First, BVOCs reacting with OH reduce the atmospheric sink for methane, meaning that high concentrations of BVOCs lengthen the methane life time (Kaplan et al. 2006). Second, BVOCs can react with nitrogen oxides (NO_x) that originate from anthropogenic sources, such as industry and transport, and produce ozone. Thus, high concentrations of BVOCs combined with high concentrations of NO_x increase ozone concentration in the troposphere, contributing to the poor air quality in already polluted areas (Atkinson 2000). In contrast, in the areas where NO_x concentrations are small, BVOCs remove ozone, contributing to the good air quality (Atkinson and Arey 2003). Third, BVOCs participate in processes that impact regional and global radiative budget. BVOC oxidation products initiate or participate in the growth of secondary organic aerosols (SOA) (Ziemann and Atkinson 2012). When large enough, SOA form cloud condensation nuclei that evolve into cloud droplets and form clouds, the properties of which depend on the quantity and size of the cloud droplets (Andreae and Rosenfeld 2008; Kazil 2010; Rosenfeld 2014). Together with SOA, clouds increase

albedo and scatter the radiation from sun, thus they have a net cooling effect on the climate (Kulmala et al. 2013; Paasonen et al. 2013; Kulmala 2014). The scattering of radiation also increases the ratio of diffuse to direct radiation which is advantageous for plant growth (Gu 2002) and further emissions of BVOCs, creating a cooling feedback loop (Kulmala et al. 2013).

The reactions of BVOCs in the atmosphere are important parts of climate modelling, and detailed information on BVOC emissions budgets from vegetation is necessary to represent the BVOC effects accurately. The remaining questions concerning the role of BVOCs include, for example, the contributions of different ecosystem sources to total BVOC budget and the dynamics of long-term BVOC pools in vegetation.

1.2.1 Terpenes

Terpenes are BVOCs formed of five-carbon isoprene units. Isoprene emissions from terrestrial vegetation are considerable, and it has the largest global annual budget of non-methane BVOCs, 516 Tg C (average of different models, Arneth et al. 2008). Monoterpenes consist of two isoprene units (10 carbon atoms) (Figure 1) whereas sesquiterpenes contain three of them (15 carbon atoms). Monoterpenes are among the second most emitted non-methane BVOCs, with the global annual budget of 91 Tg C (average of different models, Arneth et al. 2008). Monoterpene emissions are pronounced over conifer-dominated forests, such as boreal forests, because conifer trees can store monoterpenes in resin. Sesquiterpene emissions from terrestrial vegetation are also large, but sesquiterpene emission budgets and sources remain relatively uncertain because of their low volatility and high reactivity, and consequent difficulties in measuring them (Kim et al. 2009). The larger terpenes, such as resin acids that contain four isoprene units (Figure 1) have low volatility and are not commonly studied among VOCs.

This thesis discusses mainly monoterpenes, since they form a large part of resin and are an important part of the BVOC budget of boreal forests. Monoterpenes are mainly defence and signalling compounds, and in addition to the defence against biotic stresses described earlier (section 1.2.2), monoterpenes can increase plant resilience to abiotic stresses. For example, monoterpenes can help to reduce dangerous oxidation reactions in leaves that are exposed to heat (Loreto et al. 1998).

Monoterpenes are produced in the plastids of living cells, especially in the epithelial cells of resin-producing conifers (Turner et al. 2019). Monoterpene production is limited by enzymatic regulation and substrate availability controlled by temperature and light, and it also depends on phenology and tissue maturity, at least in leaves (Vanhatalo et al. 2018). Upon production, monoterpenes can be stored in long-term storages, such as resin in conifer trees or in temporary storages, such as cell membrane lipids (Niinemets and Reichstein 2002; Noe et al. 2006), or they can be emitted instantly (de novo emissions). The size and composition of monoterpene storage in a pine needle, for example, may vary either because of new production or emissions from the storage. The variation is often small (Llusià et al. 2006; Vanhatalo et al. 2018), probably due to the long storage turnover times, but during the needle development, larger changes in the monoterpene storage are possible (Thoss et al. 2007). Monoterpene production and storage affect the emissions of monoterpenes, but the emissions also depend on temperature and other fast changes in the environment. A large part of the monoterpene emissions from needles are de novo emissions (Ghirardo et al. 2010; Harley et al. 2014), and another part can originate from both long-term and temporary storages (Niinemets and Reichstein 2002; Noe et al. 2006), meaning that the total emissions are combined emissions of stored compounds and recently produced compounds. As a result, there may be considerable differences between the composition of monoterpenes that are produced, stored and emitted, and these interrelations are further complicated by the varying time lags in the different processes (Vanhatalo et al. 2018).

The monoterpene emissions may also diverge from the storage and production because of the different volatilities of the different monoterpene compounds (Table 1). Volatility describes how easily a substance vaporises and it is regulated by the vapour pressure of the compound. In the case of BVOCs, partitioning between water and air, described by Henry's law constant, and between water and lipid phases, described by octanol/water partition coefficient, also affect the overall volatility from plant structures to ambient air. The vapour pressures of different monoterpenes vary considerably (Hoskovec et al. 2005; Rumble et al. 2017; Kim et al. 2018). For example, α -pinene is highly volatile with vapour pressure of 663 Pa in 25°C whereas vapour pressure of terpinolene is smaller, 99 Pa in 25°C (Kim et al. 2018) (Table 1). Monoterpenes are generally not soluble in water, but certain oxygenated monoterpenes (monoterpenoids), such as linalool are moderately water-soluble (Copolovici and Niinemets 2005; Noe et al. 2006) (Table 1). These differences in vapour pressure and solubility affect the spectrum and dynamics of monoterpene emissions measured from plants so that compounds with higher vapour pressure may be pronounced in emissions compared to their proportions in storage. In addition, the emissions of compounds that are water-soluble are more controlled by stomatal conductance than emissions of compounds that are not water-soluble.

1.2.2 Resin effects on monoterpene emissions

Resin is a large pool of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes in conifer trees, thus its composition can be expected to affect the emissions of these compounds. As discussed earlier (section 1.1.1), the tree-to-tree variation in resin composition even within the same species is considerable (e.g. Marpeau et al. 1989; Latta et al. 2000; Fäldt et al. 2001; Thoss et al. 2007; Kännaste et al. 2013). Similar tree-to-tree variation has been reported in monoterpene emissions from pine shoots (Komenda and Koppmann 2002; Semiz et al. 2012; Bäck et al. 2012), but whether the emitted monoterpenes correspond to the monoterpene spectrum in resin is unclear. If resin composition and monoterpene emissions correlate closely, resin sampling could be an easy and fast way to map the monoterpene emission variability within a population or species. For example, Flores & Doskey (2015) used information on resin composition and the different chemical characteristics of the resin compounds to estimate the emissions of terpenes and terpenoids from *Pinus strobus* shoots. This kind of information would be useful when the atmospheric chemistry models evolve to account for the diverse monoterpenes.

When modelling and quantifying the monoterpene emissions from conifers, even when considering the effects of resin composition (Flores and Doskey 2015), resin is often considered a passive pool from which the compounds evaporate in a temperature-dependent manner (e.g. Tingey 1980) also potentially affected by other variables, such as humidity (Tingey et al. 1991; Llusià and Peñuelas 1999). However, resin is not passive, on the contrary, its pressure and flow vary according to temperature and water potential in xylem, and the effects of these resin dynamics on the monoterpene emissions from foliage and stem are unknown.

In addition to the potential effects of resin dynamics inside the tree, resin that is exposed can temporarily alter the stand-level emissions of monoterpenes. On the one hand, cutting conifer trees expose the stored resin, thus forest management practices can have large, yet relatively short term effects on stand level monoterpene budgets (Schade and Goldstein 2003; Räisänen et al. 2008; Haapanala et al. 2012; Kivimäenpää et al. 2012). On the other hand, naturally exposed resin on developing cones, buds and the bases of needles may contribute up to 10% of the total ecosystem monoterpene flux while the resin is fresh (Eller et al. 2013). Extreme effect of resin can be observed in pine forests that are used for resin tapping, where emissions from resin can dominate the emissions from foliage (Pio and Valente 1998). Finally, bark beetles cause resin leakage, which probably contributes to the increased emissions of monoterpenes that have been detected over bark beetle infested forests (Berg et al. 2013).

	Molecular mass (g mol ⁻¹)	Henry's law coefficient (Pa m ³ mol ⁻¹ , at 25°C)	Octanol/ water partitioning coefficient (mol mol ⁻¹ , at 25°C)	Vapour pressure (Pa, at 25°C)
Monoterpenes				
α-pinene	136.24	13 600	30 900	663
β-pinene	136.24	6 830	26 300	391
Δ^3 -carene	136.24	13 640	40 740	496
terpinolene	136.24	2 600	29 510	99
Monoterpenoids				
linalool	154.25	2.09	933	21
OVOCs				
methanol	32.04	0.461	0.170	16 900
acetaldehyde	44.05	7.00	0.457	120 300
acetone	58.08	3.88	0.575	30 900

Table 1. Chemical properties of some compounds studied in this thesis

Sources: <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov</u> (visited in 22.6.2019), Niinemets and Reichstein 2002, 2003, Copolovici and Niinemets 2005, references therein

1.2.3 Water-soluble oxygenated VOCs

Among the most common oxygenated volatile organic compounds (OVOCs) measured from vegetation are methanol, acetaldehyde and acetone (Fall 2003). Estimates for global annual biogenic emissions range between 38–107 Tg C for methanol (Fall 2003; Messina et al. 2016), 44–88 Tg C for acetaldehyde (Fall 2003) and 25–59 Tg C for acetone (Fall 2003; Messina et al. 2016). These compounds are emitted as side products of plant metabolism, but all their sources and possible functions are not yet fully understood.

Methanol is mainly produced in plant growth: it is released in demethylation when the pectin of cell walls is formed or degraded during the growth and senescence of plant tissues (Nemecek-Marshall et al. 1995; Fall and Benson 1996; Galbally and Kirstine 2002; Hüve et al. 2007; Seco et al. 2007). Thus, it is produced in all growing plant parts. Some methanol is also released in the protein methyl transferase and protein repair processes, as well as in soil during the degradation of plant material (Fall and Benson 1996).

High emissions of methanol and acetaldehyde, in particular, occur when the soil is flooded and tree roots lack oxygen (Kreuzwieser et al. 2000; Holzinger et al. 2000; Karl et al. 2003; Copolovici and Niinemets 2010; Bracho-Nunez et al. 2012). The acetaldehyde emission peaks are explained by anoxic metabolism in plant roots that produces ethanol that is further oxidised into acetaldehyde (Seco et al. 2007). However, ethanol and acetaldehyde emissions have also been measured during low soil moisture (Schade 2002), indicating that other important sources exist. Ethanol formation and acetaldehyde emissions may also result from insufficient diffusion of oxygen and anoxia in stem especially during fast growth and high metabolic activity (Kimmerer and Stringer 1988). Like methanol, acetaldehyde is also produced in the plant material degradation in soil (Warneke et al. 1999). In addition, the decarboxylation of pyruvic acid in leaves that are exposed to fast light-dark transitions cause release of acetaldehyde and large emission bursts (Karl et al. 2002, 2003; Hayward et al. 2004; Karl 2004; Seco et al. 2007; Jardine et al. 2012).

The VOC emission bursts after light-dark transition also contain acetone (Jardine et al. 2012). Acetone has been proposed to be a side-product on hydrogen cyanide, and a product of the acetoacetate carboxylation in soil bacteria (Fall 2003; Seco et al. 2007), but its main sources and its role in plants are not well known.

Methanol, acetaldehyde and acetone are all water-soluble with small Henry's law coefficients (Table 1). Thus, they can enter the water films in leaves and the xylem sap in roots and stem, and their emissions from shoots are considered to be controlled by stomatal conductance (Niinemets and Reichstein 2003; Niinemets et al. 2004; Harley et al. 2007). There is also evidence that methanol and acetaldehyde, along with its precursor ethanol, can be transported in the xylem sap from soil and stem to the leaves (Kreuzwieser et al. 2001; Grabmer et al. 2006; Folkers et al. 2008). Consequently, the emissions measured from the leaves could originate partly from soil, roots and stem due to the transport. However, the magnitude and importance of the OVOC transport in total shoot emissions is still unknown, and the transport mechanism has not been studied in field conditions.

1.2.4 VOC emissions from stem

The BVOC emissions from trees are most commonly measured from the foliage, because it is considered the most active part of the tree. When studying compounds such as isoprene that are tightly linked with metabolism that takes place only or mainly in leaves, this is reasonable. However, for example monoterpenes, methanol and acetaldehyde are also synthesised and transported in other parts of tree, and in the case of monoterpenes, even stored in other parts of tree in large amounts.

The relatively few studies on conifer stem BVOC emissions have measured the effects of fungal infection or insect damage on the emissions, and the volatile cues that the stem sends to bark beetles (Rhoades 1990; Gara et al. 1993; Heijari et al. 2011; Amin et al. 2012, 2013; Lusebrink et al. 2013; Kovalchuk et al. 2015; Ghimire et al. 2016). The emissions of ethanol and monoterpenes from stem have been reported to increase due to different biotic stresses (Gara et al. 1993; Amin et al. 2012, 2013; Lusebrink et al. 2013; Ghimire et al. 2016). When the stress is targeted to the stem, the stem emissions increase more than the emissions from foliage (Heijari et al. 2011; Amin et al. 2012). Abiotic stresses may also affect the emissions from stem: when subjected to drought, total monoterpene emissions from the stem of lodgepole x jack pine hybrids increased (Lusebrink et al. 2013). Including the stem BVOC emissions into the context of the whole stand BVOC emissions for the first time, Vanhatalo (2018) calculated that the unwounded stem of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) trees contributed approximately 2% of the total stand BVOC emissions, while the foliage made up the largest part. Although 2% is a small proportion, omitting it will cause a bias when calculating emission sums over longer periods. Furthermore, the proportion of stem emissions probably varies considerably depending on the basal area, tree species and age of the forest, and environmental conditions or stresses, but similar estimates from other forests are not yet available.

Measurements on the short and long-term VOC emission dynamics from tree stem are quite sparse. Temperature has been reported to drive the emissions of monoterpenes and methanol from pine stem at least at a daily scale (Vanhatalo 2018; Staudt et al. 2019). However, at a longer time scale the effect may be different: Staudt et al. (2019) reported largest monoterpene emissions from Maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*) stem during humid rather than warm days. Stem monoterpene emissions also depend on phenology: the onset of transpiration and change from winter to summer state in the stem caused large peaks of monoterpene emissions from the stem (Vanhatalo et al. 2015). In addition, the different enantiomeric composition of α - and β -pinene emissions between shoots and stem indicate differences in their production between the different tree parts (Staudt et al. 2019). Thus, we can assume that the BVOC emissions from stem do not follow exactly the same patterns as the emissions from shoots, but in comparison to shoot emissions, the environmental or physiological factors that drive stem emissions are poorly understood.

2 MOTIVATION AND OBJECTIVES

Scots pine stem is both a considerable storage and source of VOCs, but our understanding on the stem VOC emission dynamics, drivers and spatial variability is too limited to include them into stand level modelling. In addition, the functioning of resin, the major monoterpene pool and important defence mechanism has been little studied in moist boreal environment. Considering the environmental changes, understanding on the drivers of resin dynamics is needed to predict the challenges for tree defence.

In this dissertation, I studied the effects of temperature and tree water relations and transport on the resin pressure dynamics and BVOC emissions from Scots pine. The overall aim was to clarify the relationships between tree physiology – with special attention to tree water relations – resin dynamics and composition, and BVOC emissions from mature tree stem and foliage, in field conditions.

The more specific objectives were to

- 1) describe the temporal dynamics and environmental and physiological drivers of resin pressure both at a diurnal and day-to-day scale (studies I, II)
- 2) compare the spatial patterns of resin pressure and composition with monoterpene emission patterns from foliage (study II)
- analyse the dynamics of monoterpene emissions as a function of resin pressure (study I) and the dynamics of monoterpene and OVOC emissions as a function of soil moisture and tree water status (study III)
- study the transport of water-soluble VOCs methanol, acetone and acetaldehyde in xylem sap and the role of transport in their emissions from foliage (study IV) and stem (study III)

3 METHODS

3.1 Study site

All field measurements took place between 2011 and 2017 at the SMEAR II station (Station for Measuring Ecosystem-Atmosphere Relation) located in Hyytiälä, Southern Finland. The measurement forest is dominated by mature Scots pines (*Pinus sylvestris*), regenerated by sowing after prescribed burning in 1962. The dominant trees during the measurements were approximately 18–20 meters tall. Other species of the stand include of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.), especially in the undergrowth, downy birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.), silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) and trembling aspen (*Populus tremula* L.). The understorey vegetation contains mosses and dwarf shrubs: bilberry (*Vaccinuim myrtillus* L.) and lingonberry (*Vaccinium vitis-idaea* L.). The soil is of medium fertility haplic podzol. The long-term mean temperature in the forest is 3.5 °C and yearly rainfall 711 mm (Ilvesniemi et al. 2010; Pirinen et al. 2012).

SMEAR II is a station where the matter and energy fluxes between the different parts of ecosystem and between the ecosystem and the atmosphere have been studied since 1995 (Hari and Kulmala 2005). It consists of measurements on micrometeorology, and gas and trace gas fluxes using the eddy covariance techniques and enclosures dedicated to measure fluxes from soil, understorey vegetation, tree shoots and stem. In addition, continuous measurements are available on soil conditions, including moisture, temperature and water potential.

3.2 Resin measurements

3.2.1 Resin pressure

Scots pine resin pressure in studies I and II was measured with a system modified from Vité (1961). First, a 3 mm hole was drilled slightly tangentially to the tree stem, approximately 4 cm into the xylem. Then, a 3 mm metal tube was pushed into the hole, approximately 3 cm deep, and the other end of the tube was connected to a pressure gauge (Wika 111.16.40.16, Klingenberg, Germany) (studies I and II) or to a pressure transducer (Gems Sensors 3100, Plainville, USA) (study II) (Figure 4). The hole, the tube and the pressure gauge or transducer cavity were filled with glycerine to transmit the changes in resin pressure and to prevent resin flowing into the gauge or transducer. The connection between stem and the metal tube was sealed with silicone, but the small amount of spill over resin was also a good seal.

Because the resin tended to crystallise inside the hole and the metal tube, the pressure measurement needed to be reinstalled every two or three weeks. The crystallisation and the potential decreasing defence reaction following the wounding often caused a general, decreasing trend of the resin pressure over the two-to-three-week measurement periods. In study I, where mainly short-term dynamics were studied, this trend was corrected if necessary by using the residuals of a linear function of time. In study II, where long-term trends were also studied, data both with and without trend correction were used because the actual trends and the trend caused by the measurement could not be separated.



Figure 4. a) pressure gauge (used in studies I and II) (photo by Juho Aalto), and b) pressure transducer (used in study II) attached to Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) stem (photo by Kaisa Rissanen)

3.2.2 Resin composition

In study II, the monoterpene composition of resin was measured using a gas-chromatograph mass-spectrometer (GC-MS) which composes of two phases of molecule separation: the capillary column of GC and the ionisation and fragmentation of MS, enabling separation of the compounds with similar ion mass and similar retention time in GC capillary. The monoterpene composition was analysed from approximately 3 mg resin samples that were collected from small wounds punched to xylem surface of 16 sample trees. The samples were collected rapidly after the first resin droplets appeared on the wound, and after weighting, they were dissolved in heptane to avoid loss of volatile components. The samples were analysed by Agilent 6890 N gas chromatograph connected with an Agilent 5975 mass selective detector (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, USA). Each sample contained an internal standard Decane-d22 and standard solutions were used to calibrate for mass spectrums and retentions times. The quantification of the monoterpene concentrations was made by calculating the area of the ion chromatogram peak of the base ion of each compound.

3.3 Resin dynamics modelling

In study II, the temperature dependence of resin pressure was modelled using the information on resin monoterpene composition (see above section 3.2.2) and COSMOtherm software. The COSMOtherm calculates based on COSMO-RS (Conductor-like Screening Model for Real Solvents) theory the properties of liquids that consist of several compounds (Klamt et al. 1998) and it is generally used in predicting the characteristics of solvents used in industry. The COSMOtherm calculated the density of three resin mixtures – with high, intermediate and low monoterpene content – at different temperatures. Based on the density changes, the thermal expansion of resin and the resulting changes in pressure could be calculated. In addition, COSMOtherm calculated the solubility of CO_2 , N_2 and O_2 in the three resin mixtures and at different temperatures. Based on this information, the volume and growth of potential gas bubbles within resin could be estimated, and consequently the change in total resin volume and resulting change in pressure. Finally, COSMOtherm calculated the vapour pressures of resin at different temperature-related effects were combined to explain the diurnal temperature-dependency of resin pressure.

3.4 VOC emission measurements

3.4.1 Continuous VOC emission measurements

The continuous measurements of VOC emissions from both Scots pine shoots and stem were based on a chamber system where chambers attached around shoots, stem and soil are cyclically measured and flushed (Kolari et al. 2009, 2012; Aalto et al. 2014; Aalto 2015; Vanhatalo et al. 2015; Vanhatalo 2018). The chambers used in this study consisted of dynamic shoot chambers (study IV), steady state stem chambers (studies I, III and IV) and dynamic stem chambers (study III).

The dynamic shoot chambers (Figure 5 a) were built of FEP-coated (fluorinated ethylene propylene) acrylic plastic and they enclosed top-canopy pine shoots, the buds of which had been removed the previous year to remove the effect of growth on the emission dynamics. For measurement, one chamber at a time was automatically closed, and sample air was drawn from it to gas analysers. The sample air was replaced by ambient air that leaked through the small holes of the chamber. While the chamber was not measured, it remained open for flushing.

The steady-state stem chambers consisted of a polyethylene-coated aluminium spiral tube around the tree stem and FEP foil tightened around the stem and the spiral tube, closed from top and bottom with elastic bands (Figure 5 b). The only openings in these chambers were the openings for incoming replacement air and outgoing sample air. When the chamber was in measurement, a sample air flow of 1 l/min was drawn from the chamber to the analysers and replaced with a slightly larger flow of ambient air. When the chamber was not measured, a 0.4 l/min flow of ambient air was maintained through it for flushing.

The dynamic stem chambers (Figure 5 c) were built of aluminium pieces around the tree stem and a FEP foil tightened around the stem and the aluminium pieces, closed from top and bottom with elastic bands. Two of the pieces on opposite sides of the stem had automatic opening and closing lids and fans that helped to circulate air through the chamber during and between the measurements. For measurement, the chamber lids were automatically closed, 1 l/min of sample air was drawn from it to analysers, and the sample air was replaced with a slightly larger flow of ambient air. When the chamber was not measured, a 0.4 l/min flow of ambient air was maintained through the open chamber for flushing. In most chambers, the temperature within the chamber was recorded with copper-constantan thermocouples.



Figure 5. Chambers for measuring VOC emissions and H_2O and CO_2 exchange from different parts of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*). a) Dynamic shoot chamber (photo by Juho Aalto), b) steady-state stem chamber (photo by Juho Aalto) and c) dynamics stem chamber (photo by Kaisa Rissanen).

The analyser used for measuring the concentration of VOCs in the sample air drawn from the chamber was a proton transfer reaction-mass spectrometer (PTR-MS, IONICON Analytic GmbH, Innsbruck, Austria) that is a commonly used instrument for high-frequency online VOC measurement. Sample air was drawn into the PTR-MS at a rate of 0.1 l/min. In high vacuum of the PTR-MS reaction chamber, H_3O^+ ions give their proton to the sample air molecules (proton-transfer reaction). This is a gentle ionisation method that causes relatively little fragmentation of the molecules, but it works only for compounds that have higher proton affinity than water. In the quadrupole PTR-MS used here, the ions are then separated by quadrupole and led to secondary electron multiplier and finally to detector. As the quadrupole filters the ions by their mass-to-charge ratio, different compounds with similar ionised mass cannot be separated in this system. Here, ionised masses (amu) 137, 33, 45 and 59 were measured, corresponding to monoterpenes, methanol, acetaldehyde and acetone.

Based on calibrations made with standard gas every two or three weeks, the instrument sensitivities to certain masses were known, and the concentrations in sample gas could be calculated from the measured detector counts (Taipale et al. 2008). The concentrations of enclosure air were calculated into emissions using a mass-balance equation (Equation 1) in case of the dynamics chambers.

$$C(t) = C_0 + \frac{E}{F}(1 - e^{-\frac{Ft}{\nu}}) \qquad (\text{Equation 1})$$

C(t) is the concentration of the compound in the chamber as a function of time (t), C_0 is the concentration of the ambient air, F is the airflow through the chamber, v the chamber volume and E the emission rate that was found by fitting the equation to the concentration increase during the chamber closure (Hari et al. 1999; Kolari et al. 2012). For the steady-state chambers, the emissions were calculated as the difference between the chamber concentration in steady state and the ambient air concentration, multiplied by the air flow through the chamber.

In high relative humidity, water vapour can condense on the chamber walls, tubing and enclosed surfaces. Water-soluble OVOCs methanol, acetaldehyde and acetone can be adsorbed into the water films, thus in studies III and IV, OVOC data was omitted when the relative humidity in the chamber was above 70–75% (Altimir et al. 2006).

3.4.2 VOC emission potential

To achieve comparable values of VOC emissions from different environments, the emissions are often normalised to standardised conditions (for example, temperature 30°C and photosynthetic photon flux density 1000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹). If the measured compounds mainly originate from pools, like monoterpene emissions from conifers, the emissions are normalised only to temperature (Guenther et al. 1993; Guenther 1995) (Equation 2).

$$E = E_0 * e^{[\beta(T-T_s)]}$$
 (Equation 2)

E is the measured emissions, E_0 is the emission potential, β is an empirical parameter describing the temperature sensitivity of the emissions (often a global average 0.09 K⁻¹ is used), T is the temperature in the chamber and T_S is the standard temperature (30°C or 303 K). This normalisation removes from the data the short-term effect of temperature on the vapour pressures and evaporation of the VOC compounds and gives a base line emission value called emission potential. The emission potential of monoterpenes, methanol and acetaldehyde were calculated in study III to analyse the effects of different environmental variables, such as tree water relations on temperature normalised stem emissions. However, instead of using the β -parameter fixed at 0.09 K⁻¹, β -parameter was fitted in three-day windows. This aimed at accounting for the temperature sensitivity changes over the growing season and variation between different years, trees and compounds.

3.4.3 Point measurements of VOC emissions from shoots

In study II, the monoterpene composition of Scots pine shoot emissions was measured from cut branches of 16 sample trees similarly as described in Bäck et al. (2012). The branches were collected with a long pole branch cutter from the lower canopy. After approximately one week of storage in dark, at + 4°C, the cut shoots were taken to room temperature and after short acclimation installed for measurement into FEP foil bags. 0.2 l/min of air that was purified from VOCs and oxidants with an activated carbon trap and manganese dioxide-coated copper net was led into the bag and both incoming and outgoing air were sampled into Tenax TA - Carbopack B adsorbent tubes. In laboratory, the adsorbed VOCs were released by a thermal desorpter (PerkinElmer TurboMatrix 650, Waltham, USA) and measured using a gas chromatograph (PerkinElmer Clarus 600, Waltham, USA) connected with a mass spectrometer (PerkinElmer Clarus 600, Waltham, USA). Six standard samples with different concentrations of the studied analytes were used for calibrations. Emission values were calculated based on steady-state measurement: as difference between the incoming and outgoing sample concentration multiplied by the flow rate through the sample bag.

Measurement	Method	Study I May-August 2013	Study II June- August 2017	Study III June- August 2013, 2015 & 2017	Study IV May-August 2010, 2011, 2013, 2014 & 2015
Resin pressure	Pressure gauge	5 trees	10 trees		
Resin composition	GC-MS		16 trees		
Monoterpene emissions from stem	PTR-MS	1 tree		3 trees	
Monoterpene composition in shoot emissions	GC-MS		16 trees		
OVOC emissions from shoots	PTR-MS				3 trees
OVOC emissions from stem	PTR-MS			3 trees	

Table 2. Resin and BVOC measurements in each study of the thesis

3.5 Tree water status and CO₂ efflux measurements

To analyse the effects of tree physiology and especially tree water status on the resin dynamics and the emissions of VOCs, different measurements on water potential, transpiration and growth were used. In studies I and III, tree water status was observed using linear displacement transducers as point dendrometers (Solartron Inc., Model AX/5-0/5, Bognor Regis) (Figure 6). They measure changes in the whole stem or xylem diameter that are functions of growth (irreversible) or changes in the stem water status (reversible). Decreasing water potential reduces the stem diameter because it causes both shrinkage of the water conducting tracheids and decrease of turgor pressure in the living parenchyma cells in sapwood (Irvine and Grace 1997; Perämäki et al. 2001; Mencuccini et al. 2013; Lintunen et al. 2017). As the radial growth of stem takes place in the cambial zone, diameter variations measured from xylem beneath this zone reflect only changes in water status. Measuring the stem diameter both from xylem and on bark enables separating the growth signal (Chan et al. 2016).

In addition, measurements on transpiration were used to analyse the effect of transport on the emissions of OVOCs (studies III and IV) and measurements on carbon dioxide (CO₂) efflux from the stem were used to describe the metabolic activity in stem (study III). Transpiration was measured by the shoot chamber system described above (section 3.4.1) and by Kolari et al. (2012), and stem CO₂ flux using the stem chambers described above (section 3.4.1) and by Vanhatalo (2018). For analysis of water and CO₂ concentrations, the sample air from the chambers was drawn to a URAS 4 infrared light absorption gas analyser (Hartman and Braun, Frankfurt am Main, Germany) or to a Li-840 A gas analyser (Li-Cor, Lincoln, NE, USA). Like VOC emissions, the water and CO₂ fluxes were calculated using the mass-balance equation (Equation 1) or their steady-state concentrations, depending on the chamber type. Because of the condensation of water on the chamber surfaces in high relative humidity, the water and CO₂ flux measurements were unreliable when relative humidity exceeded 70-75% and these measurements were removed prior to analysis.



Figure 6. Linear displacement transducers for continuously measuring small changes in xylem and bark diameter

3.6 Path analysis as a tool to separate variable interactions

In studies I and IV, different path analysis approaches were used to compare and distinguish the simultaneous effects of different variables on the emissions of monoterpenes from the stem (study I) or the emissions of OVOCs from the shoots (study IV). In study I, the elaboration method EFRA (explanatory framework-based regression analysis) was employed to compare the effects of resin pressure and temperature on the stem emissions of monoterpenes. The method was based on simple regressions, so that first the coefficients of temperature and resin pressure effects on monoterpene emissions were calculated separately (Figure 7 a, line 1) and then their coefficients were calculated in a model where they both explained monoterpene emissions (Figure 7 a, line 2). The changes in their coefficients gave indications on the roles of the two variables in explaining the emissions and whether and how much the effect of temperature was mediated through resin pressure.

A simple form of structural equation model (SEM) was employed to clarify the interactions between temperature, stomatal conductance and transpiration in explaining the emissions of OVOCs from shoots. The calculations were made in R lavaan package (Rosseel 2012). The path analysis described the causal relations between independent variables (temperature and stomatal conductance) that explained the dependent variable (OVOC emissions) (Figure 7 b, line 1), possibly through another dependent variable (transpiration) (Figure 7 b, line 2). The interrelations between the variables and the importance of each variable were estimated by their coefficients in each regression and the significance (p-value) of each coefficient.



Figure 7. a) Framework of EFRA approach, where first the individual effects of resin pressure and temperature on monoterpene emissions were calculated (1) and then their effects when both variables were explaining monoterpene emissions (2) and b) framework of path analysis, where the effects of temperature and stomatal conductance on OVOC emissions were calculated (1) and then the transpiration was added to the model (2).

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Resin pressure dynamics

4.1.1 Resin pressure as a function of temperature and tree water status

Unlike expected based on the previous studies from dry environments, studies I and II showed that in the moist and cool boreal environment the diurnal resin pressure dynamics of Scots pine followed temperature (Figures 8 and 9). The resin pressures were highest in daytime, between 13 h and 15 h, whereas the lowest pressures occurred at dawn, between 3 h and 6 h. This pattern was similar regardless the measured tree or the phase of growing season.

The strong control of temperature on resin pressure was explained in study II by two processes: 1) thermal expansion increases resin pressure, and 2) increasing temperature decreases the solubility of gases (for example, N_2 , O_2 and CO_2) in resin, which allows these gases to move to gas phase and enlarge bubbles in resin, increasing resin pressure. Although in study I, the monoterpene vapour pressure changes were suggested to be one reason for the strong temperature regulation, the changes in vapour pressures were too small to contribute to the daily dynamics of resin pressure. Correspondingly, Pio & Valente (1998) found that changes in vapour pressure could not alone explain the temperature dependence of monoterpene emissions from exposed resin.

Despite the strong temperature dependence at a daily scale, temperature did not explain all variation in resin pressure. In study I, resin pressure sometimes deviated from the diurnal temperature dynamics, especially when the ambient vapour pressure deficit (VPD) changed suddenly. In addition, over some of the 5–8-day measurement periods, the residuals of a temperature model explaining resin pressure correlated positively with xylem water potential inferred from the xylem diameter change measurements (study I) (Figure 9). Moreover, in study II, resin pressure trends over the growing season followed soil water potential whereas the long-term effect of temperature was negative (Figure 9). These diurnally small, but at a longer term important impacts of xylem and soil water potential on resin pressure, as shown in drier regions by Bourdeau and Schopmeyer (1958), Vité (1961), Lorio and Hodges (1968b) and Helseth and Brown (1970). However, this impact seems to be most of the time overshadowed by the strong impact of temperature.

4.1.2 Resin pressure dynamics in moist and dry environments

Based on the results presented above (section 4.1.1), resin pressure follows the diurnal patter of temperature in moist environment (Figure 8), but in dry environments it has been found to follow the diurnal changes in xylem water potential, and inversely the changes in transpiration rate and VPD (Bourdeau and Schopmeyer 1958; Vité 1961; Barret and Bengtson 1964; Lorio and Hodges 1968a; Neher 1993). This difference in the daily dynamics of resin pressure between dry and moist sites suggests either that the availability of water strongly shapes the resin pressure dynamics between these different environments, or that the measurement techniques for resin pressure were considerably different between the measurements.

Considering the first option, Vité, (1961) reported that the effect of VPD on resin pressure was weaker when the availability of water in soil was high and stronger when the soil was dry. In Hyytiälä, Finland, drought is very rare and during the measured years, the availability of water was high: in study I, soil water potential during the resin pressure measurements varied between 0 and -500 kPa, and in study II, between 0 and -25 kPa. Thus, the high water availability in these measurements should weaken the effect of VPD and water potential on resin pressure. Moreover, the daily range of resin pressure measured in drought-prone environment is considerably larger

(approximately 4 bar) (Lorio and Hodges 1968b) in comparison to moist environment (0.5–1 bar) (Figure 8). Thus, in moist conditions and at a short term, VPD, transpiration and water potential probably do not affect the tracheid sizes and turgor pressures of epithelial cells strongly enough to overcome the temperature effect on resin pressure. At a longer term, however, the slow changes of water status in the tracheids and epithelial cells can be large enough to impact the resin pressure. At an even longer time scale, acclimation and adaptation of the trees to a certain climate might affect even the resin duct responsiveness, rigidity and permeability.

Considering the second option about the different measurement techniques, the methods used in studies I and II were tested in a drought-prone Scots pine forest (Pfynwald) standing on sandy soil in Switzerland. In Pfynwald, resin pressures followed a diurnal pattern with maximum at dawn and minimum in the afternoon (unpublished data) (Figure 8), corresponding to the results from dry regions (Bourdeau and Schopmeyer 1958; Vité 1961; Lorio and Hodges 1968b; Helseth and Brown 1970; Neher 1993). Moreover, the long-term resin pressure dynamics in the Pfynwald forest followed the soil water potential trends, decreasing towards the end of the growing season. Based on these results from dry environment that corresponded to the earlier studies, the methods used in studies I and II were considered valid.



Figure 8. Variation in resin pressure (solid black), ambient temperature (solid grey) and relative humidity (dashed grey) a) in moist, boreal Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) forest of Hyytiälä, Finland (study II) and b) in dry inner-alpine Scots pine forest of Pfynwald, Switzerland (unpublished data).



Figure 9. Correlations between a) trend-corrected resin pressure and temperature, b) temperature-normalized resin pressure and xylem diameter in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), in Hyytiälä, July 15–18, 2014 (study I), and c) 3-day mean of resin pressure and temperature and d) 3-day mean of resin pressure and soil water potential in Scots pine, in Hyytiälä, June–July 2017 (study II). Dashed lines present the least-square fit.

4.1.3 Resin pressure dynamics in different stem parts

Although the dynamics of resin pressure were corresponding between all measured trees, there were differences between the tree parts. Resin pressures were higher in the top part versus the bottom part of the stem in the beginning and in the end of growing season, but in mid-summer, resin pressure was higher in the bottom part of the stem (study II). The differences between the top and bottom part were largest when the water potential in xylem was below average and transpiration was high (study I). Transpiration decreases water potential proportionally more in the top part of the stem than in the bottom part, which could explain the lower resin pressure in the top part of stem during the periods of high transpiration.

4.2 Resin effects on monoterpene emissions

4.2.1 Resin pressure and monoterpene composition in comparison to monoterpene emissions from shoots

As resin is a large pool of monoterpenes in conifer stem and shoots, resin composition could be expected to affect the composition and tree-to-tree variation of emitted monoterpenes. Indeed, study II showed that the stem resin and shoot emissions of 16 measured Scots pines contained the same monoterpenes in roughly corresponding proportions (Figure 10). The most abundant compounds were α -pinene, Δ^3 -carene and β -pinene, with smaller quantities of limonene, terpinolene, camphene, and p-cymene.



Figure 10. Monoterpene spectrum in a) shoot emissions and b) stem resin of 16 Scots pines (*Pinus sylvestris*) in Hyytiälä, August 2016

However, the monoterpene proportions in stem resin and shoot emissions within one tree were not identical and the tree-to-tree variation in shoot emissions was larger than in resin composition. In resin, the proportions of Δ^3 -carene and α -pinene varied generally little between trees, whereas the shoot emissions of some trees were clearly dominated by either of the compounds (Figure 10). Moreover, α -pinene was generally more abundant in shoot emissions than in resin, probably because of its high volatility in comparison to the other monoterpenes. Interestingly, only in two trees the proportions of β -pinene were considerable, but in these trees, it was an important component of both the shoot monoterpene emissions and stem resin (Figure 10).

Mismatches between the stem resin composition and shoot emission spectrum can be expected (Vanhatalo et al. 2018): in addition to emission from storages, shoots emit monoterpenes directly upon synthesis (Ghirardo et al. 2010; Harley et al. 2014), the different monoterpenes have different volatilities and diffusion rates, and the resin composition can differ between stem and shoots (Latta et al. 2000). The resin composition difference between stem and shoots may strongly affect the emission patterns between these two tree parts according to data collected in the Pfynwald forest: comparing the monoterpene emissions and resin composition within the same tree part, stem or shoot, showed better matches (unpublished data).

Resin pressures also varied between trees. In general, the trees with higher resin pressure had higher content of monoterpenes, especially α -pinene in their resin and larger emissions of monoterpenes, especially Δ^3 -carene and terpinolene from their shoots. These connections between resin pressure, resin composition and monoterpene emissions might reflect past stress events that have increased resin pressures and the production and emissions of certain monoterpenes.

4.2.2 Resin pressure and water availability effects on monoterpene emissions from stem

Study I showed that like the resin pressure dynamics, the daily monoterpene emission dynamics from Scots pine stem followed temperature (Figure 11). To separate the potential effects of temperature and resin pressure on the monoterpene emissions, the EFRA analysis was used (Figure 7). The analysis indicated that both temperature and resin pressure were important in explaining the monoterpene emissions. Temperature affects the monoterpene emissions by regulating their vapour pressures and diffusion rates, and resin pressure may increase the monoterpene emissions by facilitating their release from resin ducts and the stem. According to EFRA, a part of the temperature effect on monoterpene emissions was mediated through the temperature effect on resin pressure, but resin pressure also had an independent impact. The independent resin pressure impact could be connected to the subtle short-term changes and larger long-term changes in resin pressure, caused by slow changes in water availability and water potential in xylem.

Correspondingly, the daily mean stem monoterpene emission potential, normalised for the short-term effects of temperature, correlated with daily mean soil water content and xylem water potential (study III) (Figure 11). Anomalies of high monoterpene emission potential occurred when soil water content and xylem water potential were higher than average. This effect probably manifests the long-term variation in resin pressure, but at least a part of it could also result from more direct effects of humidity on monoterpene emissions. Abundant water availability might enhance the production of monoterpenes, and air humidity could provoke monoterpene release from short-term storages or resin ducts as a result of the uneven wetting and swelling of stem tissues as suggested by Staudt et al. (2019) or because of the changes in bark conductance as proposed for leaf cuticula (Croteau et al. 1977).

In the moist conditions of Hyytiälä, completely separating the effects of temperature and resin pressure on stem monoterpene emissions is impossible because temperature and resin pressure covary. Thus, it would be interesting to study the connections between resin pressure and stem monoterpene emissions in conditions where the resin pressure dynamics diverge from temperature dynamics. This could be achieved in a dry environment, where resin pressure is regulated by water potential more than temperature.

Another interesting question concerns the effect of resin pressure on the emissions of monoterpenes from pine shoots. Resin pressures or pressure variations within pine needles are not known, but if they follow the same dynamics as in stem, a part of the temperature effect on the shoot monoterpene emissions could be explained by resin pressure, as well. The effect of resin pressure could also partly explain the decrease in monoterpene emissions during drought (Staudt et al. 2002; Lüpke et al. 2016). However, these suggestions remain hypothetical until resin pressures can be measured within resin ducts of needles.



Figure 11. Monoterpene emissions from Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) stem explained with a) temperature and b) resin pressure, 15.-18.7.2013 (study I), and c) soil water content in June-August 2015 (study III), in Hyytiälä, Finland.

4.3 Water transport effects on OVOC emissions

4.3.1 OVOC emissions from shoots

Like the emissions of most VOCs, the shoot emissions of water-soluble oxygenated VOCs (OVOCs) – methanol, acetone and acetaldehyde – depend on temperature. They are also considered dependent on stomatal conductance, in particular methanol and to a lower degree acetone and acetaldehyde. When stomatal conductance is small, the capacity of these compounds to dissolve in water inhibits the increase of their concentration inside the leaf air space, which can cause a momentary reduction of their emissions (Niinemets and Reichstein 2003).

Nevertheless, study IV showed that transpiration rather than stomatal conductance controlled the shoot OVOC emissions from Scots pine in field conditions. The emissions were best explained by temperature and transpiration, and according to the structural equation model, stomatal conductance affected the emissions only indirectly by regulating the transpiration. The strong coupling of OVOC emissions with transpiration suggests that a part of the OVOCs measured from shoots evaporate from transpired xylem sap (Figure 12). It also indicated that these OVOCs or their precursors can be transported within xylem sap from their sources in roots and stem up to shoots and to ambient air, as suggested in the case of methanol (Grabmer et al. 2006; Folkers et al. 2008) and acetaldehyde (Kreuzwieser et al. 2000; Fall 2003).

Due to the transport, a certain proportion of OVOC shoot emissions can originate from stem or roots. How large is this transported proportion in comparison to the proportion that originates from the shoot depends on 1) how much these compounds are produced in shoots versus stem and roots, and 2) where in stem or roots they are mainly produced. Methanol is produced in the cambial zone of the stem, near the stem surface, so it might more likely diffuse through bark to ambient air than dissolve in xylem sap. Thus, the proportion of transported methanol of total shoot emissions is probably small. In contrast, acetaldehyde mainly originates from roots and the anoxic parts of stem, so it might more likely dissolve in xylem sap than diffuse through sapwood and bark to ambient air. Thus, the proportion of transported acetaldehyde of total shoot emissions is probably larger. In line with this hypothesis, the stem OVOC emissions were dominated by methanol, although the methanol emissions from shoots were slightly smaller than the shoot emissions of acetone and acetaldehyde (study IV). Furthermore, the shoot emissions of methanol were generally better explained by temperature than by transpiration rate, indicating a larger proportion of locally produced methanol. The shoot emissions of acetone and acetaldehyde in particular were generally better explained by transpiration rate than temperature, indicating an important role of the transported portion.

4.3.2 OVOC emissions from stem

The daily emissions of methanol and acetaldehyde from stem of Scots pine were also temperature-dependent, but like their emission patterns from shoots, the emission patterns from stem reflected the effect of transport in xylem sap (study III). Increased acetaldehyde emission potential occurred after anomalies of high soil water content, with a lag of three to seven days (Figure 12). The lag times corresponded to the average xylem sap transport times, calculated from the average transpiration rates, from the base of the stem to the measurement location at the top of the stem (Figure 12). The lagged effect of soil water content indicates that acetaldehyde production in soil and roots follows water availability even when the soil is not flooded or anoxic and that the transport in xylem sap affects acetaldehyde emissions from stem, as well. In addition to the transported acetaldehyde, some stem acetaldehyde emissions might originate from the lack of oxygen near heartwood or in cambium during fast stem growth that could cause formation of ethanol and acetaldehyde (Kimmerer and Stringer 1988). This local production could explain the correlations found between stem acetaldehyde emissions and stem growth as well as stem CO₂ efflux (Study III), but its significance to total acetaldehyde emissions is unknown.

A weaker effect of soil water content was found on methanol emission potential (Figure 12). The fact that the effect of soil water content was smaller highlights the complexity of methanol sources in stem: a large part of methanol measured from the stem probably originates from the local production connected to stem growth, whereas another part can be transported from roots and the lower parts of the stem. In addition, a part of the local production can dissolve in xylem sap or be metabolised (Jardine et al. 2017). To describe the methanol emissions more accurately, the sources and sinks would need to be separated and the lag times between growth, methanol production and emissions estimated. The methanol emissions potential from stem also correlated with bark water conductance, indicating that the diffusion through bark could be an important constraint for the emissions.

The acetone emissions from stem followed temperature changes poorly and the emission dynamics were generally related to air humidity. Further studies would be necessary to first locate the main acetone sources in trees and then to understand its emission patterns from stem. Transport in xylem sap might have an important role, since the emission patters from shoots followed closely transpiration.

The spatial pattern of OVOC emissions from different stem heights corresponded to the stem CO_2 efflux pattern that is also affected by transport in xylem sap (study IV) (Hölttä & Kolari 2009). The emissions were low from the bottom part of the stem, where diffusion to ambient air is slow due to thick bark, and the compounds easily dissolve in xylem sap. The emissions were higher from the middle part of the stem and highest from the top. At the top, diffusion through thin bark is fast, and the xylem sap already may have high concentrations of OVOCs, enhancing their release. The top part of the stem is also more active (Vanhatalo 2018) and more exposed to the changes in temperature, contributing to higher emissions.



Figure 12. The framework of soil water and xylem sap transport on emissions of OVOCs (methanol, acetone and acetaldehyde) from Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) shoots and stem. Effects of transpiration on shoot emissions of a) methanol, b) acetaldehyde and c) acetone in Hyytiälä, 2010. No lags were detected in the effect of transpiration on shoot OVOC emission. Effect of soil water content with a 3-day lag on stem emissions of d) methanol and e) acetaldehyde in Hyytiälä, 2017. The lag time of 3 days is in the same scale as the roughly estimated transport time of water from the tree base to the measurement location at 15 meters calculated based on average summer time transpiration rate.

5 CONCLUSIONS

In contrast to a dry environment, Scots pine resin pressure in a moist environment is controlled by temperature at a short term, most likely because of thermal expansion and the temperature dependent changes in solubility of gases in resin. At a longer term, the direct temperature effect is less important or even negative, and the resin pressure is affected by changes in water availability and tree water status. This impact of water status suggests that even in a moist environment, the defence capacity of Scots pine could be reduced during drought periods because of decreasing resin pressures.

In addition to tree defence, resin pressure along with temperature also affects the emissions of monoterpenes from Scots pine stem. A part of the resin pressure effect is caused by temperature, but it also has an independent effect on the emissions that is probably linked to the long-term trends of water availability and water potential in xylem. For example, high stem monoterpene emission potential can be observed when soil water content is higher than average. In addition to the temporal variation, resin pressure and composition are associated with the tree-to-tree variation of monoterpene emissions. On the one hand, the monoterpenes that are stored in resin can be emitted from stem and foliage, contributing to the spectrum and quantity of monoterpenes emitted from the tree. However, in foliage, the *de novo* emissions of monoterpenes cause some diversion of the emission spectrum from the resin composition. On the other hand, a tree with high resin pressure may have larger emissions of monoterpenes from shoots. Thus, the knowledge on resin dynamics and variability plays an important role in advancing the understanding on tree-to-tree variation and tree-level monoterpene emissions of conifers.

Apart from monoterpenes, conifer trees are large sources of OVOCs: methanol, acetone and acetaldehyde. Their emissions from Scots pine are not dependent on resin, but also strongly regulated by temperature and by tree water relations owing to their water solubility. Upon production, these compounds can dissolve in xylem sap and travel from their sources in soil, roots and stem up to foliage. Thus, a part of the OVOCs emitted from foliage originates from other tree parts and the OVOC emissions from foliage are strongly dependent on transpiration. Transpiration and soil water content also affect the stem emissions of acetaldehyde and, to a smaller degree, methanol. Their emission potential from stem increase after anomalies of high soil water content with a lag that corresponds to their transport time in xylem sap.

The results of this thesis highlight the strong impact of temperature on all the studied tree processes in a boreal environment that has moderate or minor limitations in water availability. However, while temperature can be used to predict the pressure of resin and the emissions of VOCs from stem and foliage at a short time scale, the interconnection between tree water relations and resin and VOC emissions dynamics may cause unpredicted dynamics at a longer time scale and especially in case of extreme events such as drought or flooding.

REFERENCES

Aalto J. (2015). Seasonal and spatial variation of VOC emissions from boreal Scots pine forest. Dissertationes Forestales 208. 59 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.208

Aalto J., Kolari P., Hari P., Kerminen V.-M., Schiestl-Aalto P., Aaltonen H., Levula J., Siivola E., Kulmala M., Bäck J. (2014). New foliage growth is a significant, unaccounted source for volatiles in boreal evergreen forests. Biogeosciences 11:1331–1344. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-1331-2014

Altimir N., Kolari P., Tuovinen J.-P., Vesala T., Bäck J., Suni T., Kulmala M., Hari P. (2006). Foliage surface ozone deposision: a role of surface moisture? Biogeosciences 3:1–20. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-3-209-2006

Amin H., Atkins P.T., Russo R.S., Brown A.W., Sive B., Hallar A.G., Huff Hartz K.E. (2012). Effect of bark beetle infestation on secondary organic aerosol precursor emissions. Environmental Science & Technology 46:5696–5703. https://doi.org/10.1021/es204205m

Amin H., Russo R.S., Sive B., Richard Hoebeke E., Dodson C., McCubbin I.B., Gannet Hallar A., Huff Hartz K.E. (2013). Monoterpene emissions from bark beetle infested Engelmann spruce trees. Atmospheric Environment 72:130–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.02.025

Andreae M.O., Rosenfeld D. (2008). Aerosol-cloud-precipitation interactions. Part 1. The nature and sources of cloud-active aerosols. Earth-Science Reviews 89:13–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2008.03.001

Arneth A., Monson R.K., Schurgers G., Niinemets Ü., Palmer P.I. (2008). Why are estimates of global terrestrial isoprene emissions so similar (and why is this not so for monoterpenes)? Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 8:4605–4620. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-8-4605-2008

Atkinson R. (2000). Atmospheric chemistry of VOCs and NO(x). Atmospheric Environment 34:2063–2101. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1352-2310(99)00460-4

Atkinson R., Arey J. (2003). Atmospheric Degradation of Volatile Organic Compounds. Chemical Reviews 103:4605–4638. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr0206420

Bäck J., Aalto J., Henriksson M., Hakola H., He Q., Boy M. (2012). Chemodiversity of a Scots pine stand and implications for terpene air concentrations. Biogeosciences 9:689–702. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-689-2012

Bakke A. (1983) Host tree and bark beetle interaction during a mass outbreak of *Ips typographus* in Norway. Zeitschrift für Angewandte Entomologie 96:118–125. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.1983.tb03651.x

Baldwin I.T., Halitschke R., Paschold A., Von Dahl C.C., Preston C.A. (2006). Volatile signaling in plant-plant interactions: 'Talking trees' in the genomics era. Science 311:812–815. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1118446

Barret J.P., Bengtson G.W. (1964). Oleoresin yields for slash pines from seven seed sources. Forest Science 10:159–164. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/10.2.159

Berg A.R., Heald C.L., Huff Hartz K.E., Hallar A.G., Meddens A.J.H., Hicke J.A., Lamarque J.-F., Tilmes S. (2013). The impact of bark beetle infestations on monoterpene emissions and secondary organic aerosol formation in western North America. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 13:3149–3161. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-13-3149-2013

Bosshard H.H., Hug U.E. (1980). The anastomoses of the resin canal system in *Picea abies* (L.) karst., *Larix decidua* mill. and *Pinus sylvestris* L. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 38:325–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02611082

Bourdeau F., Schopmeyer S. (1958). Oleoresin exudation pressure in slash pine: its measurement, heritability, and relation to oleoresin yield. In: Thinnmann K.V. (ed.) The physiology of Forest Trees. Ronald Press CO., New York, pp 313–319.

Bracho-Nunez A., Knothe N.M., Costa W.R., Liberato M.A.R., Kleiss B., Rottenberger S., Piedade M.T.F., Kesselmeier J. (2012). Root anoxia effects on physiology and emissions of volatile organic compounds (VOC) under shortand long-term inundation of trees from Amazonian floodplains. SpringerPlus 1:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-1-9

Castella G., Chapuisat M., Moret Y., Christe P. (2008). The presence of conifer resin decreases the use of the immune system in wood ants. Ecological Entomology 33:408–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.2007.00983.x

Chan T., Hölttä T., Berninger F., Mäkinen H., Nöjd P., Mencuccini M., Nikinmaa E. (2016). Separating water-potential induced swelling and shrinking from measured radial stem variations reveals a cambial growth and osmotic concentration signal. Plant Cell and Environment 39:233–244. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12541

Chapuisat M., Oppliger A., Magliano P., Christe P. (2007). Wood ants use resin to protect themselves against pathogens. Proceedings Biological sciences 274:2013–2017. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2007.0531

Copolovici L., Niinemets Ü. (2005). Temperature dependencies of Henry's law constants and octanol/water partition coefficients for key plant volatile monoterpenoids. Chemosphere 61:1390–1400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.05.003

Copolovici L., Niinemets Ü. (2010). Flooding induced emissions of volatile signaling compounds in three tree species with differing waterlogging tolerance. Plant, Cell and Environment 33:1582–1594. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2010.02166.x.

Coppen J.J., Hone G.A. (1995). Non-wood forest products 2 - Gum naval stores: turpentine and rosin from pine resin. FAO reports. Rome, Italy.

Cristani M., D'Arrigo M., Mandalari G., Castelli F., Sarpietro M.G., Micieli D., Venuti V., Bisignano G., Saija A., Trombetta D. (2007). Interaction of four monoterpenes contained in essential oils with model membranes: Implications for their antibacterial activity. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 55:6300–6308. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf070094x

Croteau R., Johnson M.A. (1985). Biosynthesis of terpenoid wood extractives. In: Takayoshi Higuchi (ed.) Biosynthesis and biodegradation of wood components. Academic Press, Orlando, USA, pp 379–439.

Dell B., McComb A.J. (1979). Plant resins – their formation, secretion and possible functions. Advances in Botanical Research 6:277–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2296(08)60332-8

Eisner T., Johnessee J.S., Carrel J., Hendry L.B., Meinwald J. (1974). Defensive use by an insect of a plant resin. Science 184:996–999. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.184.4140.996

Eller A.S.D., Harley P., Monson R.K. (2013). Potential contribution of exposed resin to ecosystem emissions of monoterpenes. Atmospheric Environment 77:440–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.05.028

Fäldt J., Sjödin K., Persson M., Valterová I., Borg-Karlson A.K.-K. (2001). Correlations between selected monoterpene hydrocarbons in the xylem of six *Pinus* (Pinaceae) species. Chemoecology 11:97–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00001838

Fall R. (2003). Abundant oxygenates in the atmosphere: A biochemical perspective. Chemical reviews 103:4941–4951. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr0206521

Fall R., Benson A.A. (1996). Leaf methanol - The simplest natural product from plants. Trends in plant science 1:296–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(96)88175-0

Flores R.M., Doskey P.V. (2015). Estimating terpene and terpenoid emissions from conifer oleoresin composition. Atmospheric Environment 113:32–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.04.062

Folkers A., Hüve K., Ammann C., Dindorf T., Kesselmeier J., Kleist E., Kuhn U., Uerlings R., Wildt J. (2008) Methanol emissions from deciduous tree species: Dependence on temperature and light intensity. Plant Biology 10:65–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1438-8677.2007.00012.x

Galbally I.E., Kirstine W. (2002). The production of methanol by flowering plants and the global cycle of methanol. Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry 43:195–229. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:10206848

Gara R.I., Littke W.R., Rhoades D.F. (1993). Emission of ethanol and monoterpenes by fungal infected lodgepole pine trees. Phytochemistry 34:987–990. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(00)90699-X

Gershenzon J., Murtagh G.J., Croteau R. (1993). Absence of rapid terpene turnover in several diverse species of terpene-accumulating plants. Oecologia 96:583–592. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00320517

Ghimire R.P., Kivimäenpää M., Blomqvist M., Holopainen T., Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa P., Holopainen J.K. (2016). Effect of bark beetle (*Ips typographus* L.) attack on bark VOC emissions of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* Karst.) trees. Atmospheric Environment 126:145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.11.049

Ghirardo A., Koch K., Taipale R., Zimmer I., Schnitzler J.P., Rinne J. (2010). Determination of de novo and pool emissions of terpenes from four common boreal/alpine trees by ¹³CO₂ labelling and PTR-MS analysis. Plant, Cell and Environment 33:781–792. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.02104.x

Grabmer W., Kreuzwieser J., Wisthaler A., Cojocariu C., Graus M., Rennenberg H., Steigner D., Steinbrecher R., Hansel A. (2006). VOC emissions from Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L.

[Karst]) twigs in the field – Results of a dynamic enclosure study. Atmospheric Environment 40:128–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.03.043

Gu L. (2002). Advantages of diffuse radiation for terrestrial ecosystem productivity. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 107:ACL 2-1-ACL 2-23. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001JD001242

Guenther A. (1995). A global model of natural volatile organic compound emissions. Journal of Geophysical Research 100:8873–8892. https://doi.org/10.1029/94JD02950

Guenther A., Zimmerman P.R., Harley P.C., Monson R.K., Fall R. (1993). Isoprene and monoterpene emission rate variability: model evaluations and sensitivity analyses. Journal of Geophysical Research 98:12,609-612,617. https://doi.org/10.1029/93JD00527

Haapanala S., Hakola H., Hellén H., Vestenius M., Levula J., Rinne J. (2012). Is forest management a significant source of monoterpenes into the boreal atmosphere? Biogeosciences 9:1291–1300. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-1291-2012

Hanover J.W. (1966). Genetics of terpenes I. Gene control of monoterpene levels in *Pinus monticola* dougl. Heredity 21:73–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1966.5

Hanover J.W. (1992). Applications of terpene analysis in forest genetics. New Forests 6:159–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00120643

Hari P., Keronen P., Bäck J., Altimir N., Linkosalo T., Pohja T., Kulmala M., Vesala T. (1999). An improvement of the method for calibrating measurements of photosynthetic CO₂ flux. Plant, Cell & Environment 22:1297–1301. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.1999.00478.x

Hari P., Kulmala M. (2005). Station for Measuring Ecosystem-Atmosphere Relations (SMEAR II). Boreal Environment Research 10:315–322.

Harley P., Eller A., Guenther A., Monson R.K. (2014). Observations and models of emissions of volatile terpenoid compounds from needles of ponderosa pine trees growing in situ: Control by light, temperature and stomatal conductance. Oecologia 176:35–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-3008-5

Harley P., Greenberg J., Niinemets Ü., Guenther A. (2007). Environmental controls over methanol emission from leaves. Biogeosciences 4:1083–1099. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-4-1083-2007

Hayward S., Tani A., Owen S.M., Hewitt C.N. (2004). Online analysis of volatile organic compound emissions from Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*). Tree physiology 24:721–728. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/24.7.721

Heijari J., Blande J.D., Holopainen J.K. (2011). Feeding of large pine weevil on Scots pine stem triggers localised bark and systemic shoot emission of volatile organic compounds. Environmental and Experimental Botany 71:390–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2011.02.008

Helseth F.A., Brown C.L. (1970). A system for continuously monitoring oleoresin exudation pressure in slash pine. Forest Science 16:346–349. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/16.3.346 Hodges J.D., Frien W.G., Watson W.F., Nebeker E.T. (1979). Oleoresin characteristics and susceptibility of four southern pines to southern pine beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) attacks. The Canadian Entomologist 111:889–896. https://doi.org/10.4039/Ent111889-8

Hodges J.D.D., Lorio P.L. (1968). Measurement of oleoresin exudation pressure in loblolly pine. Forest Science 14:75–76. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/14.1.75

Hodges J.D., Lorio P.L. (1971). Comparison of field techniques for measuring moisture stress in large loblolly pines. Forest Science 17:220–223. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/17.2.220

Hölttä T., Kolari P. (2009). Interpretation of stem CO₂ efflux measurements. Tree Physiology 29:1447–1456. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpp073

Holzinger R., Sandoval-Soto L., Rottenberger S., Crutzen P.J., Kesselmeier J. (2000). Emissions of volatile organic compounds from *Quercus ilex* L. measured by Proton Transfer Reaction Mass Spectrometry under different environmental conditions. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 105:20573–20579. https://doi.org/10.1029/2000JD900296

Hoskovec M., Grygarová D., Cvacka J., Streinz L., Zima J., Verevkin S.P., Koutek B. (2005). Determining the vapour pressures of plant volatiles from gas chromatographic retention data. Journal of Chromatography A 1083:161–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2005.06.006

Hüve K., Christ M.M., Kleist E., Uerlings R., Niinemets Ü., Walter A., Wildt J. (2007). Simultaneous growth and emission measurements demonstrate an interactive control of methanol release by leaf expansion and stomata. Journal of experimental botany 58:1783–1793. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erm038

Ilvesniemi H., Pumpanen J., Duursma R., Hari P., Keronen P., Kolari P., Kulmala M., Mammarella I., Nikinmaa E., Rannik Ü., Pohja T., Siivola E., Vesala T. (2010). Water balance of a boreal Scots pine forest. Boreal Environment Research 15:375–396.

Irvine J., Grace J. (1997). Continuous measurements of water tensions in the xylem of trees based on the elastic properties of wood. Planta 202:455–461. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004250050

Jardine K.J., Fernandes de Souza V., Oikawa P., Higuchi N., Bill M., Porras R., Niinemets Ü., Chambers J.Q. (2017). Integration of C₁ and C₂ Metabolism in Trees. International journal of molecular sciences 18: 2045. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18102045

Jardine K., Barron-Gafford G.A., Norman J.P., Abrell L., Monson R.K., Meyers K.T., Pavao-Zuckerman M., Dontsova K., Kleist E., Werner C., Huxman T.E. (2012). Green leaf volatiles and oxygenated metabolite emission bursts from mesquite branches following light-dark transitions. Photosynthesis Research 113:321–333. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-012-9746-5

Kännaste A., Copolovici L., Pazouki L., Suhhorutšenko M., Niinemets Ü. (2013). Highly variable chemical signatures over short spatial distances among Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) populations. Tree Physiology 33:374–387. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpt013

Kaplan J.O., Folberth G., Hauglustaine D.A. (2006). Role of methane and biogenic volatile organic compound sources in late glacial and Holocene fluctuations of atmospheric methane concentrations. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 20:1–16.

Karl T. (2004). Exchange processes of volatile organic compounds above a tropical rain forest: Implications for modeling tropospheric chemistry above dense vegetation. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 109:D18306-1–19. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004JD004738

Karl T., Curtis A.J., Rosenstiel T.N., Monson R.K., Fall R. (2002). Transient releases of acetaldehyde from tree leaves-products of a pyruvate overflow mechanism? Plant, Cell and Environment 25:1121–1131. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.2002.00889.x

Karl T., Guenther A., Spirig C., Hansel A., Fall R. (2003). Seasonal variation of biogenic VOC emissions above a mixed hardwood forest in northern Michigan. Geophysical Research Letters 30:SDE2-1–4. https://doi.org/1010.1029/2003GL018432

Kazil J. (2010). Aerosol nucleation and its role for clouds and Earth's radiative forcing in the aerosol-climate model ECHAM5-HAM. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 10:10733–10752. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-10-10733-2010

Kim S., Chen J., Cheng T., Gindulyte A., He J., He S., Li Q., Shoemaker B.A., Thiessen P.A., Yu B., Zaslavsky L., Zhang J., Bolton E.E. (2018). PubChem 2019 update: improved access to chemical data. Nucleic Acids Research 47:1102–1109. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky1033.

Kim S., Karl T., Helmig D., Daly R., Rasmussen R., Guenther A. (2009). Measurement of atmospheric sesquiterpenes by proton transfer reaction-mass spectrometry (PTR-MS). Atmospheric Measurement Techniques 2:99–112. https://doi.org/10.5194/amt-2-99-2009

Kimmerer T.W., Stringer M.A. (1988). Alcohol dehydrogenase and ethanol in the stems of trees. Plant Physiology 87:693–697. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.87.3.693

Kivimäenpää M., Magsarjav N., Ghimire R., Markkanen J.-M.M., Heijari J., Vuorinen M., Holopainen J.K. (2012). Influence of tree provenance on biogenic VOC emissions of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) stumps. Atmospheric Environment 60:477–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.07.018

Klamt A., Jonas V., Bürger T., Lohrenz J.C.W. (1998). Refinement and Parametrization of COSMO-RS. The Journal of Physical Chemistry A 102:5074–5085. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp980017s

Kolari P., Bäck J., Taipale R., Ruuskanen T.M., Kajos M.K., Rinne J., Kulmala M., Hari P. (2012). Evaluation of accuracy in measurements of VOC emissions with dynamic chamber system. Atmospheric Environment 62:344–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.08.054

Kolari P., Kulmala L., Pumpanen J., Launiainen S., Ilvesniemi H., Hari P., Nikinmaa E. (2009). CO₂ exchange and component CO₂ fluxes of a boreal Scots pine forest. Boreal Environment Research 14:761–783.

Komenda M., Koppmann R. (2002). Monoterpene emissions from Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*): Field studies of emission rate variabilities. Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres 107:ACH1-1–13. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001JD000691

Kopper B.J., Illman B.L., Kersten P.J., Klepzig K.D., Raffa K.F. (2005). Effects of diterpene acids on components of a conifer bark beetle–fungal interaction: tolerance by *Ips pini* and sensitivity by its associate *Ophiostoma ips*. Environmental Entomology 34:486–493. https://doi.org/10.1603/0046-225X-34.2.486 Kovalchuk A., Raffaello T., Jaber E., Keriö S., Ghimire R., Lorenz W.W., Dean J.F.D., Holopainen J.K., Asiegbu F.O. (2015). Activation of defence pathways in Scots pine bark after feeding by pine weevil (*Hylobius abietis*). BMC Genomics 16:352-1–15. https://doi.org /10.1186/s12864-015-1546-9

Kreuzwieser J., Harren F.J.M., Laarhoven L.J.J., Boamfa I., Lintel-Hekkert S., Scheerer U., Hüglin C., Rennenberg H. (2001). Acetaldehyde emission by the leaves of trees - Correlation with physiological and environmental parameters. Physiologia Plantarum 113:41–49. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3054.2001.1130106.x

Kreuzwieser J., Kühnemann F., Martis A., Rennenberg H., Urban W. (2000). Diurnal pattern of acetaldehyde emission by flooded poplar trees. Physiologia Plantarum 108:79–86. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3054.2000.108001079.x

Kulmala M. (2014). CO₂-induced terrestrial climate feedback mechanism: From carbon sink to aerosol source and back. Boreal Environment Research 19:122–131.

Kulmala M., Nieminen T., Chellapermal R., Makkonen R., Bäck J., Kerminen V.-M. (2013). Climate feedbacks linking the increasing atmospheric CO₂ concentration, BVOC emissions, aerosols and clouds in forest ecosystems. In: Niinemets Ü., Monson R. (eds.) Biology, Controls and Models of Tree Volatile Organic Compound Emissions. Springer Science+Business Media, Dordrecht, Netherlands, pp 489–508.

Kurth E.F., Sherrard E.C. (1931). Distribution of ether extractive in slash pine. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry 23:1156–1159. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie50262a024

Langenheim J.H. (1994). Higher plant terpenoids: A phytocentric overview of their ecological roles. Journal of chemical ecology 20:1223–1280. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02059809

Langenheim J.H. (2003). Plant resins : chemistry, evolution, ecology, and ethnobotany. Timber Press, Portland, OR, USA. 612 p.

Latta R.G., Linhart Y.B., Lundquist L., Snyder M.A. (2000). Patterns of monoterpene variation within individual trees in ponderosa pine. Journal of Chemical Ecology 26:1341–1357. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005471322069

Latta R.G., Linhart Y.B., Snyder M.A., Lundquist L. (2003). Patterns of variation and correlation in the monoterpene composition of xylem oleoresin within populations of ponderosa pine. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology 31:451–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-1978(02)00176-X

Lintunen A., Lindfors L., Nikinmaa E., Hölttä T. (2017). Xylem diameter changes during osmotic stress, desiccation and freezing in *Pinus sylvestris* and *Populus tremula*. Tree Physiology 37:491–500. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpw114

Llusià J., Peñuelas J. (1999). *Pinus halepensis* and *Quercus ilex* terpene emission as affected by temperature and humidity. Biologia Plantarum 42:317–320. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1002185324152

Llusià J., Peñuelas J., Alessio G.A., Estiarte M. (2006). Seasonal contrasting changes of foliar concentrations of terpenes and other volatile organic compound in four dominant species of a

Mediterranean shrubland submitted to a field experimental drought and warming. Physiologia Plantarum 127:632–649. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2006.00693.x

Loreto F., Förster A., Dürr M., Csiky O., Seufert G. (1998). On the monoterpene emission under heat stress and on the increased thermotolerance of leaves of *Quercus ilex* L. fumigated with selected monoterpenes. Plant, Cell and Environment 21:101–107. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.1998.00268.x

Lorio P.L. (1994). The relationship of oleoresin exudation pressure (or lack thereof) to flow from wounds. Journal of Sustainable Forestry 1:81–93. https://doi.org/10.1300/J091v01n04_04

Lorio P.L., Hodges J.D. (1968a). Microsite effects on oleoresin exudation pressure of large loblolly pines. Ecology 49:1207–1210. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934519

Lorio P.L., Hodges J.D. (1968b). Oleoresin exudation pressure and relative water content of inner bark as indicators of moisture stress in loblolly pines. Forest Science 14:392–398. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestscience/14.4.392

Lüpke M., Leuchner M., Steinbrecher R., Menzel A. (2016). Impact of summer drought on isoprenoid emissions and carbon sink of three Scots pine provenances. Tree Physiology 36:1382–1399. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpw066

Lusebrink I., Erbilgin N., Evenden M.L. (2013). The Lodgepole × Jack pine hybrid zone in Alberta, Canada: A stepping stone for the mountain pine beetle on its journey east across the boreal forest? Journal of Chemical Ecology 39:1209–1220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-013-0334-8

Marpeau A., Walter J., Launay J., Charon J., Baradat P., Gleizes M. (1989). Effects of wounds on the terpene content of twigs of maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) - II. Changes in the volatile terpene hydrocarbon composition. Trees 3:220–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00225355

Mencuccini M., Hölttä T., Sevanto S., Nikinmaa E. (2013). Concurrent measurements of change in the bark and xylem diameters of trees reveal a phloem-generated turgor signal. New Phytologist 198:1143–1154. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12224

Messina P., Lathière J., Sindelarova K., Vuichard N., Granier C., Ghattas J., Cozic A., Hauglustaine D.A. (2016). Global biogenic volatile organic compound emissions in the ORCHIDEE and MEGAN models and sensitivity to key parameters. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 16:14169–14202. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-16-14169-2016

Neher H.V. (1993). Effects of pressires inside Monterey pine trees. Trees 8:9–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00240976

Nemecek-Marshall M., MacDonald R.C., Franzen J.J., Wojciechowski C.L., Fall R. (1995). Methanol emission from leaves (enzymatic detection of gas-phase methanol and relation of methanol fluxes to stomatal conductance and leaf development). Plant Physiology 108:1359–1368. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.4.1359

Niinemets Ü., Loreto F., Reichstein M. (2004). Physiological and physicochemical controls on foliar volatile organic compound emissions. Trends in plant science 9:180–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2004.02.006 Niinemets Ü., Reichstein M. (2002). A model analysis of the effects of nonspecific monoterpenoid storage in leaf tissues on emission kinetics and composition in Mediterranean sclerophyllous *Quercus* species. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 16:57-1–26. https://doi.org/10.1029/2002GB001927

Niinemets Ü., Reichstein M. (2003). Controls on the emission of plant volatiles through stomata: differential sensitivity of emission rates to stomatal closure explained. Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres 108:ACH2-1–17. https://doi.org/10.1029/2002JD002620

Noe S.M., Ciccioli P., Brancaleoni E., Loreto F., Niinemets Ü. (2006). Emissions of monoterpenes linalool and ocimene respond differently to environmental changes due to differences in physico-chemical characteristics. Atmospheric Environment 40:4649–4662. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.04.049

Paasonen P., Asmi A., Petäjä T., Kajos M.K., Äijälä M., Junninen H., Holst T., Abbatt J.P.D., Arneth A., Birmili W., van der Gon H.D., Hamed A., Hoffer A., Laakso L., Laaksonen A., Richard Leaitch W., Plass-Dülmer C., Pryor S.C., Räisänen P., Swietlicki E., Wiedensohler A., Worsnop D.R., Kerminen V.-M., Kulmala M. (2013). Warming-induced increase in aerosol number concentration likely to moderate climate change. Nature Geoscience 6:438–442. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo1800

Perämäki M., Nikinmaa E., Sevanto S., Ilvesniemi H., Siivola E., Hari P., Vesala T. (2001). Tree stem diameter variations transpiration in Scots pine: An analysis using a dynamic sap flow model. Tree Physiology 21:889–897. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/21.12-13.889

Phillips M.A., Croteau R.B. (1999). Resin-based defenses in conifers. Trends in Plant Science 4:184–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(99)01401-6

Pio C.A., Valente A.A. (1998). Atmospheric fluxes and concentrations of monoterpenes in resin-tapped pine forests. Atmospheric Environment 32:683–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1352-2310(97)00327-0

Pirinen P., Simola H., Aalto J., Kaukoranta J.-P., Karlsson P., Ruuhela R. (2012). Climatological statistics of Finland 1981–2010. Finnish Meteorological Institute, Helsinki, Finland.

Räisänen T., Ryyppö A., Kellomäki S. (2008). Impact of timber felling on the ambient monoterpene concentration of a Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) forest. Atmospheric Environment 42:6759–6766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.05.035

Reid M.L., Sekhon J.K., LaFramboise L.M. (2017). Toxicity of monoterpene structure, diversity and concentration to mountain pine beetles, *Dendroctonus ponderosae*: beetle traits matter more. Journal of Chemical Ecology 43:351–361. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-017-0824-1

Rhoades D.F. (1990). Analysis of monoterpenes emitted and absorbed by undamaged boles of lodgepole pine. Phytochemistry 29:1463–1465. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9422(90)80101-L

Rosenfeld D. (2014). Global observations of aerosol-cloud-precipitation-climate interactions. Reviews of Geophysics 52:750–808. https://doi.org/10.1002/2013RG000441

Rosseel Y. (2012). lavaan: an R package for structural equation modeling and more. Version 0.5-12 (BETA). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v048.i02

Rumble J.R., Lide D.R., Bruno T.J. (eds.) (2017). CRC handbook of chemistry and physics, 98th edition. CRC Press, Taylor and Francis Group, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.

Schade G., Goldstein A. (2002). Plant physiological influences on the fluxes of oxygenated volatile organic compounds from ponderosa pine trees. Journal of Geophysical Research D Atmospheres 107:ACH2-1–6. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001JD000532

Schade G., Goldstein A. (2003) Increase of monoterpene emissions from a pine plantation as a result of mechanical disturbances. Geophysical Research Letters 30:31–33. https://doi.org/10.1029/2002GL016138

Schlyter P., Stjernquist I., Bärring L., Jönsson A., Nilsson C. (2006). Assessment of the impacts of climate change and weather extremes on boreal forests in northern Europe, focusing on Norway spruce. Climate Research - CLIMATE RES 31:75–84. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr031075

Schopmeyer C.S., Mergen F., Evans T.C. (1954). Applicability of Poiseuille's law to exudation of oleoresin from wounds on slash pine. Plant Physiology 29:82–87. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.29.1.82

Seco R., Peñuelas J., Filella I. (2007). Short-chain oxygenated VOCs: Emission and uptake by plants and atmospheric sources, sinks, and concentrations. Atmospheric Environment 41:2477–2499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.11.029

Semiz G., Blande J.D., Heijari J., Isik K., Niinemets Ü., Holopainen J.K. (2012). Manipulation of VOC emissions with methyl jasmonate and carrageenan in the evergreen conifer *Pinus sylvestris* and evergreen broadleaf *Quercus ilex*. Plant Biology 14:57–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1438-8677.2011.00485.x

Seybold S.J., Huber D.P.W., Lee J.C., Graves A.D., Bohlmann J. (2006). Pine monoterpenes and pine bark beetles: A marriage of convenience for defense and chemical communication. Phytochemistry Reviews 5:143–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-006-9002-8

Smith R.H. (1964a). Variation in the monoterpenes of *Pinus ponderosa* Laws. Science 143:1337–1338. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.143.3612.1337

Smith R.H. (1964b). The monoterpenes of lodgepole pine oleoresin. Phytochemistry 3:259–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(00)88048-6

Smith R.H. (1964c). Perennial constancy of the monoterpene synthesis in the wood oleoresin of *Pinus ponderosa*. Nature 202:107-108. https://doi.org/10.1038/202107a0Nature 202:107-108.

Smith R.H. (1965). Effect of monoterpene vapors on the western pine beetle. Journal of economic entomology 58:509–510. https://doi.org/10.1093/jee/58.3.509

Smith R.H. (1966). Resin quality as a factor in the resistance of pines to bark beetles. In: Gerhold H.D., Schreiner E.J., McDermott R.E., Winieski J.A.B.T. (eds.) Breeding Pest-Resistant Trees. Pergamon Press Ltd., Oxford, United Kingdom, pp 189–196.

Smith R.H. (2000). Xylem monoterpenes of pines: distribution, variation, genetics, function. General Technical Report PSWGTR- 177. Albany, CA, USA. https://doi.org/10.2737/PSW-GTR-177

Staudt M., Byron J., Piquemal K., Williams J. (2019). Compartment specific chiral pinene emissions identified in a Maritime pine forest. Science of The Total Environment 654:1158–1166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.146

Staudt M., Rambal S., Joffre R., Kesselmeier J. (2002). Impact of drought on seasonal monoterpene emissions from *Quercus ilex* in southern France. Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres 107:ACH15-1–9. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001JD002043

Strom B.L., Goyer R.A., Ingram L.L., Boyd G.D.L.L., Lott L.H. (2002). Oleoresin characteristics of progeny of loblolly pines that escaped attack by the southern pine beetle. Forest Ecology and Management 158:169–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00710-6

Taipale R., Ruuskanen T.M., Rinne J., Kajos M.K., Hakola H., Pohja T., Kulmala M. (2008). Technical Note: Quantitative long-term measurements of VOC concentrations by PTR-MS; measurement, calibration, and volume mixing ratio calculation methods. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 8:6681–6698. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-8-6681-2008

Thoss V., O'Reilly-Wapstra J., Iason G.R. (2007). Assessment and implications of intraspecific and phenological variability in monoterpenes of scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) foliage. Journal of Chemical Ecology 33:477–491. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-006-9244-3

Tingey D.T. (1980). Influence of light and temperature on monoterpene emission rates from slash pine. Plant Physiology 65:797–801. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.65.5.797

Tingey D.T., Turner D.P., Weber J.A. (1991). Factors controlling the emissions of monoterpenes and other volatile organic compounds. In: Sharkey T.D., Holland E.A., Mooney H.A. (eds.) Trace gas emissions by plant. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, pp 93–119.

Turner G.W., Parrish A.N., Zager J.J., Fischedick J.T., Lange B.M. (2019). Assessment of flux through oleoresin biosynthesis in epithelial cells of loblolly pine resin ducts. Journal of Experimental Botany 70:217–230. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ery338.

Vanhatalo A. (2018). Long-term dynamics of BVOC production, storage and emission in boreal Scots pine. Dissertationes Forestales 253. 49 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.253

Vanhatalo A., Chan T., Aalto J., Korhonen J.F., Kolari P., Hölttä T., Nikinmaa E., Bäck J. (2015). Tree water relations can trigger monoterpene emissions from Scots pine stems during spring recovery. Biogeosciences 12:5353–5363. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-12-5353-2015

Vanhatalo A., Ghirardo A., Juurola E., Schnitzler J.P., Zimmer I., Hellén H., Hakola H., Bäck J. (2018). Long-term dynamics of monoterpene synthase activities, monoterpene storage pools and emissions in boreal Scots pine. Biogeosciences 15:5047–5060. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-15-5047-2018

Vité J. (1961). The influence of water supply on oleoresin exudation pressure and resistance to bark beetle attack in Pinus ponderosa. Contributions of Boyce and Thompson institute 21:31–66.

Vité J., Wood D. (1961). A study on the applicability of the measurement of oleoresin exudation pressure in determining susceptibility of second growth ponderosa pine to bark beetle infestation. Contributions of Boyce and Thompson institute 21:67–78.

Warneke C., Karl T., Judmaier H., Hansel A., Jordan A., Lindinger W., Crutzen P.J. (1999). Acetone, methanol, and other partially oxidized volatile organic emissions from dead plant matter by abiological processes: Significance for atmospheric HO(X) chemistry. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 13:9–17. https://doi.org/10.1029/98GB02428

Werker E., Fahn A. (1969). Resin ducts of *Pinus halepensis* Mill.-Their structure, development and pattern of arrangement. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 62:379–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.1969.tb01974.x

Wilson A.T., Gumbley J.M., Spedding D.J. (1963). Resin Metabolism in the Sapwood of *Pinus radiata*. Nature 198:500. https://doi.org/10.1038/198500a0

Wood D.L. (1962) Experiments on the interrelationship between oleoresin exudation pressure in *Pinus ponderosa* and attack by *Ips confusus* (Lec.) (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). The Canadian Entomologist 94:473–477. https://doi.org/10.4039/Ent94473-5

Wu H., Hu Z.H. (1997). Comparative anatomy of resin ducts of the Pinaceae. Trees 11:135–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004680050069

Zavarin E., Cobb F.W. (1970). Oleoresin variability in *Pinus ponderosa*. Phytochemistry 9:2509–2515. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(00)85771-4

Zhang C., Fujii T., Abe H., Fujiwara T., Fujita M., Takabe K. (2008). Anatomical features of radial resin canals in *Pinus densiflora*. IAWA Journal 29:179–187. https://doi.org/10.1163/22941932-90000178

Ziemann P.J., Atkinson R. (2012). Kinetics, products, and mechanisms of secondary organic aerosol formation. Chemical Society Reviews 41:6582–6605. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2CS35122F

Zulak K.G., Bohlmann J. (2010). Terpenoid biosynthesis and specialized vascular cells of conifer defense. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology 52:86–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7909.2010.00910.x